
 

Parkside  Station Approach  Burton Street  Melton Mowbray  Leicestershire  LE13 1GH 

01664 502502 * contactus@melton.gov.uk * www.melton.gov.uk * @MeltonBC 

 

 
 

Agenda 

 
 

 

 

Meeting name Meeting of the Cabinet 

Date Thursday, 16 June 2022 

Start time 4.30 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 
Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire. LE13 1GH 

Other information This meeting is open to the public 
 

Members of the Cabinet are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the following items of business. 
 
Edd de Coverly 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership 
 
Councillors J. Orson (Chair) M. Graham MBE (Vice-Chair) 
 R. Bindloss R. Browne 
 R. de Burle A. Freer 
 
 
Quorum:  3 Councillors 
 
 

Meeting enquiries Democratic Services 

Email democracy@melton.gov.uk 

Agenda despatched Wednesday, 8 June 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

No. Item 
 

Page No. 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   MINUTES 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2022. 
 

1 - 10 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members to declare any interest as appropriate in respect of items to 
be considered at this meeting. 
 

11 - 12 

4.   MATTERS REFERRED FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 

• Approval of Melton Town Centre Vision 
 

13 - 16 

5.   APPROVAL OF MELTON TOWN CENTRE VISION 
The Portfolio Holder for Growth and Prosperity to submit a report on 
the Melton Town Centre Vision. 
 

17 - 60 

6.   APPROVAL TO SUBMIT A LEVELLING UP FUNDING BID 
The Portfolio Holder for Growth and Prosperity to submit a report 
summarising the key projects for which funding is sought, seeking 
approval to submit a bid prior to the deadline and outlining the 
Council’s approach to work jointly with partners to prepare the 
information which maximises the chances of a successful bid. 
 

61 - 76 

7.   BIANNUAL OMBUDSMAN REPORT 
The Leader of the Council to submit a report providing the Cabinet 
with an update on the outcomes of complaints submitted to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and the 
Housing Ombudsman (HO) up to 31 March 2022. 
 

77 - 84 

  
 
 
 
 



1 Cabinet : 090322 

 

 

 

 

Minutes 

 

 

 

 

 

Present: 

 

Chair Councillor J. Orson (Chair)  

 

Councillors M. Graham MBE (Vice-Chair) R. Bindloss 

 R. Browne R. de Burle 

 A. Freer  

 

Officers Chief Executive 

 Director for Corporate Services 

 Director for Housing and Communities (Deputy Chief Executive) 

 Director for Growth and Regeneration 

 Assistant Director for Housing Management 

 Assistant Director for Governance & Democracy 

 Democratic Services Officer (HA) 

 Democratic Services Officer (CR) 

 

  

 

Meeting name Cabinet 

Date Wednesday, 9 March 2022 

Start time 4.00 pm 

Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 

Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire. LE13 1GH 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 Cabinet : 090322 

 

 

Minute 

No. 

 

Minute 

237 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence. 

 

238 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2022 were confirmed. 

 

239 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Bindloss declared a pecuniary interest in agenda item 6 – Allocation of 

Community Grants 2022/23, as a Member of Melton and Oakham Waterways 

Society (the Society was a grant recipient). 

 

Councillor Freer declared a personal and non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 4 - 

Matters Referred From Scrutiny Committee in Accordance with Scrutiny Procedure 

Rules - Scrutiny Feedback on the Allotment Service, as an allotment tenant. 

 

Councillor Orson declared an interest in any items relating to Leicestershire County 

Council, due to his role as a County Councillor. 

 

240 MATTERS REFERRED FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 

Scrutiny Feedback on the Allotment Service 

 

Councillor Robert Child, Chair of Scrutiny Committee introduced the report,  

advising that of the 5 allotment sites in Melton, the Council managed 3 sites 

(at Lake Terrace, Redwood Avenue and Doctors Lane) and an allotment  

association managed 2 sites (at Victoria Street and the Crescent).  Scrutiny  

Committee had reviewed information on the location, condition,  

accessibility, occupancy levels, charging structure, income from fees,  

expenditure and the need for future considerations for the sites.  The  

Committee provided the following feedback: 

 

• The service recorded a loss over the last 6 years (when including support 
costs in calculations) 

• Fencing improvements costs at the 3 Council managed sites were 
estimated at £50k.  If the sites were self-managed by an allotment 
association, the Council would not bear the associated staff support 
costs and would be able to recover the fencing costs over a number of 
years.  

• The estimated fencing costs appeared to be inflated and would be 
subject to a procurement process.  Currently there was no budget in the 
2022/23 budget estimates for fencing. 

• Self-managed allotments, managed by an allotment association should 
be considered, although issues such as vandalism may cause some 
allotment holders to be reluctant to this. 

• Any fencing erected by the Council (if funds become available) should be 
high security to protect the allotments from vandalism. 

Page 2



3 Cabinet : 090322 

 

• Condition surveys had identified that the repairs were not urgent/health 
and safety risks and as such there was no support for any budget. 

• There was no budget allocated for the allotment competition, which had 
been held in previous years. 

• It was suggested that allotment tenants be asked to relocate to enable 
raised beds to be installed 

• There had been no complaints to the Council from allotment tenants over 
the last 3 years but it would be useful to gain tenant feedback on the 
Council’s service. 

• Members were reassured that as standard allotment sites, the sites 
would not be used for housing development, unless the Council decided 
to decommission them and then followed a lengthy legal process. 

• Members were encouraged at the suggestion of planning more allotment 
sites, as part as the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR). 

• The current term for allotment tenancies was for an indefinite period.  
Support was expressed for shorter tenancies, as the Council may be able 
to regain the tenancy more quickly, particularly in cases of disrepair. 

• The outstanding debt for this service stood at £822 and there had been 
50 different debts written off over the last six years.  There was concern 
that 10% of tenants were paying in arrears and that it may be difficult for 
the Council to obtain payment at the end of some tenancies. 

 

The Leader commented on the good work undertaken by Scrutiny Committee and 

noted that it was encouraging that more allotments were planned as a result of the 

MMDR development. 

 

In response to a question from the Leader, Councillor Child confirmed that currently 

there was a waiting list for allotment tenancies. 

 

During discussion the following points were noted: 

  

• Members thanked Scrutiny Committee for their feedback.  Much work had 
been undertaken by the Committee and its report was comprehensive. 

• The allotment waiting list could be reviewed to determine if there were 
particular areas in Melton which needed additional allotment land. 

• The Portfolio Holder for Growth and Regeneration would visit allotment sites 
with officers to consider various issues, such as fencing, raised beds etc. 

• There was some reluctance expressed over the expenditure for fencing. 

• The allotment sites were subject to some vandalism but the extent of this 
was not confirmed at the meeting. 

• Difference in rental charge between cl and management company and 
different sizes between allotments plots on cl and managed side 

• It was noted that a full allotment plot was approximately 250 square metres 
and a half plot was 125 square metres. 

• There were 30 full plots and 16 half plots at Lake Terrace, 7 full plots and 14 
half plots at Redwood and 44 full plots and 20 half plots at Doctor’s Lane.  
These sites were manages by the Council. 

• There was 1 full plot and 25 half plots at Victoria Street and 10 full plots and 
26 half plots at the Crescent.  These sites were managed by an association. 

• At the time of the report, there were 7 vacant plots at Lake Terrace, none at 
Redwood and 4 at Doctor’s Lane. 

 

Page 3



4 Cabinet : 090322 

 

Cabinet AGREED to have regard to the Scrutiny Committee’s feedback. 

 

241 HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY 

Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and Communities introduced the report, the 

purpose of which was to present the final Housing Allocations Policy for approval. 

 

Mrs. Howard advised that the Council was required to have a policy which provided 

a process to assess housing need, advertise available social housing and to 

allocate properties to those in need (the Housing Allocations Scheme).  This 

provided a framework for prioritising and allocating properties appropriately through 

the Council’s Housing Register.  To facilitate meaningful engagement, the Council 

had undertaken a public consultation on the Policy and to date had received a good 

response from residents and stakeholders (154 responses and overwhelmingly 

positive feedback).  The feedback had not required amendments to the Policy but 

some minor changes had been made in response to helpful advice and feedback 

from colleagues in the Legal Team. 

 

Mrs. Howard confirmed that the Council was in the final stages of configuring an IT 

system, which would enable delivery of the new Policy.  This would be undertaken 

in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Council Homes and Landlord Services 

to ensure a seamless transition for residents and applicants. 

 

Councillor Ronan Browne, Portfolio Holder for Growth and Regeneration thanked 

the Director for Housing and Communities, the Assistant Director for Housing and 

their team for the work undertaken.  He highlighted that the Policy provided a 

framework to manage the process of allocating housing to those who met the 

criteria and providing appropriate support (such as signposting to outside agencies) 

to those who were not eligible.  The Council was working with others such as the 

private rental sector, housing associations etc. on the future supply of housing.  He 

noted the high level of engagement from local agencies and organisations and 

reiterated that the Council’s aim was to help and support those in need.  

 

The Leader commented the Council was making good progress on its Housing 

service and he thanked the Assistant Director for Housing and her team for their 

good work. 

 

Cabinet 

 

1) APPROVED the revised Melton Borough Council Housing Allocations 
Policy; 
 

2) DELEGATED to the Director for Housing and Communities, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Council Homes and Landlord Services, authority 
to finalise the implementation plan and associated timeline. 
 

Reasons for the recommendations 

 

The Council is required to have a mechanism to assess housing need, advertise 

available social housing and allocate properties to households in need.  This should 

Page 4



5 Cabinet : 090322 

 

provide a clear and transparent framework to determine eligibility and prioritisation 

of applications for social housing properties. 

 

The revised housing allocations scheme proposed for approval is a robust and 

legally compliant policy.  There has been a comprehensive consultation exercise as 

part of its development. 

  

Alongside the revised policy is the development of a new Choice Based Letting IT 

system.  This is at an advanced stage of configuration and testing. Delegated 

authority to determine the implementation plan and associated timescales will allow 

for alignment of the policy and system changes for customers. 

 

242 ALLOCATION OF COMMUNITY GRANTS 2022/23 

Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and Communities introduced the report, the 

purpose of which was to outline and seek approval for the award of the Community 

Grants budget for the financial year 2022/23 and to propose a repurposing of 

unallocated funds to create a one-off Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund. 

 

Mrs. Howard advised that the report was the product of considerable work 

undertaken by officers and the Portfolio Holder for Climate, Access and 

Engagement, during a challenging period where there was much demand for 

community support. 

 

Mrs. Howard highlighted that the Council had continued to invest in the Community 

Grant Scheme.  Its Community Grants Policy Framework was used to assess 

applications for grants and how to ensure the best impact and value for money. 

 

Mrs. Howard confirmed that the process for grant applications involved a bidding 

window, within which community organisations could express an interest to receive 

a grant from the Community Grant Scheme.  A panel was then established to 

consider applications in line with policy and prioritise and assess the ability to 

award funding.  This year, the Council had in excess of £99k worth of requests for 

funding from a budget of £44k, which presented a challenge.  However, positive 

decisions had been made, as detailed within the table at paragraph 5.9.2 of the 

report.  The Council had not awarded grants to all partners due to eligibility and 

being unable to demonstrate how the policy criteria had been met.  In these cases, 

alternative support (i.e. through a contribution or other funding opportunities and 

support etc.) had been provided. 

 

Mrs. Howard advised that due to an underspend of £7,128k on the allocation of 

community grants budget, an additional 1 off grant scheme for 2022 was proposed 

(the Platinum Jubilee Grants Scheme).  This would enable the Council to manage a 

small grant scheme to support community groups across the borough to deliver 

events in line with the Jubilee. 

 

Councillor Alison Freer, Portfolio Holder for Climate, Access and Engagement 

commented that the allocation of community grants was a particularly positive 

aspect of her portfolio, as it resulted in such a direct impact on the community and 

Page 5



6 Cabinet : 090322 

 

had a positive impact on residents.  This was an outstanding project and the 

officers involved had worked to ensure that all eligible applicants had been 

successful, either wholly or in part in gaining funding.  Officers had engaged with 

community organisations to foster positive relationships with new and existing 

organisations and projects.  This work had resulted in an budget underspend, 

which could be used for Melton jubilee celebrations. 

 

Councillor Freer highlighted that the allocation of community grants work had 

creating links with the Melton Community Lottery, increasing this pot of funding.  

The work had helped the Council to learn more about the organisations benefiting 

from the grants and the positive impact the projects would have on the community. 

 

The Leader thanked the Portfolio Holder for Climate, Access and Engagement and 

officers for their work, noting that it was positive that more organisations were 

accessing the Melton Community Lottery. 

 

Cabinet 

 

1) APPROVED the award of Community Grants; 
 

2) APPROVED the use of £2,040 unallocated funds for the 2022/23 community 
grants budget and £5,088 unallocated funds from the 2021/22 community 
grants budget to create a one-off Community Grants Fund of £7,128 
specifically for the Platinum Jubilee; 
 

3) DELEGATED authority to the Director of Housing and Communities, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Climate, Access and Environment, 
to develop and implement a Platinum Jubilee           Community Grants 
Scheme for Melton. 
 

Reasons for the recommendations 

 

The Council’s investment in a Community Grants Scheme enables a fund for 

community groups and voluntary agencies to bid for.  The grants support the 

corporate theme of “Helping People” and the Council’s role both as supporter and 

enabler of community-based activities.  The allocation of the grants is important in 

supporting activities that benefit the residents of the Borough and bring positive 

social value. 

 

The proposed allocation of grants for 2022/23 has been made following a robust, 

clear and transparent assessment panel approach in line with the approved 

Community Grants Policy criteria. 

 

This year will be a unique one with the Borough preparing for Platinum Jubilee 

Celebrations.  The Council has an opportunity to expand the reach of the 

Community Grants budget to enable community organisations to bid for grant 

funding to support and enable their Jubilee celebrations. 

  

This also provides the Council an opportunity to enhance its community leadership 

role in supporting Melton communities with Jubilee celebrations. 

Page 6



7 Cabinet : 090322 

 

Delegated authority to develop and implement Platinum Jubilee Community Grants 

Scheme for Melton is requested to enable this to be progressed in readiness for the 

Jubilee.  It is proposed this would be best delivered as a small grants scheme, with 

maximum allocations not exceeding £1,000. 

 

243 ACTIVE TOGETHER 10 YEAR FRAMEWORK 

Michelle Howard, Director for Housing and Communities introduced the report, the 

purpose of which was to provide an overview of the framework for physical activity 

and some background information as to its purpose, objective, and relevance to the 

work of the Council and to seek Cabinet endorsement of the framework and a 

commitment to supporting the delivery of its priorities and principles through 

continued collaboration. 

 

Mrs. Howard advised that this report was the result of collaborative work across 

Leicestershire and Rutland.  Active Together was a positive and proactive Sprots 

Partnership, aiming to increase physical activity in communities and find ways to 

improve physical activity amongst those who may not engage in such activities.  

The Framework demonstrated continued commitment to support health and 

wellbeing in the community, as per the Council’s Corporate Strategy etc. and 

showed unity across all councils endorsing the Framework.  There were 

considerable benefits to partnership working and officers were keen to maintain the 

collaboration and positive work. 

 

Councillor Malise Graham, Portfolio Holder for People and Communities 

commented that the Framework provided a focus and commitment to shape, 

design and deliver the Council’s services, as aligned with the principles in the 

Framework.  Across the county, districts would consider similar reports and a 

collective endorsement and strong partnership helped Active Together to 

drawdown funding from other organisations, such as Public Health and Sports 

England etc.  In 2021, the Council invested £3,708k in Access Together and 

accessed approximately £55k from Public Health and approximately £29k from 

Leicestershire County Council (LCC) as a result.  The funding from Public health 

was used to deliver the Council’s physical activity and health based action plan to 

support delivering core public health priorities, as well as Melton priorities.  This 

included £30k for a Physical Activity and Development Officer, £14k to deliver 

physical activities and health opportunities to children and young people in schools, 

£1k to support active travel (walking, cycling and running), £5k to deliver the 

exercise referral programme, £2k support falls prevention classes, £3k toward 

physical activity and health interventions in the community.  The funding from LCC 

was used £14k was used for a graduate community physical activity health and 

sports assistance, £10k to support youth engagement activated in delivering 

physical activity interventions to support children and young people's mental health 

due to Covid 19 and £5k for LCC’s Active Together campaign ‘Let's Get Moving’. 

 

During discussion the following points were noted: 

 

• It was noted that the report was comprehensive, detailing organised 
activities but not activities such as allotment gardening/dog walking etc. 

Page 7



8 Cabinet : 090322 

 

 

Cabinet 

 

1) APPROVED and endorses the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Active 
Together Physical Activity Framework 2022/2031; 
 

2) PROVIDED a commitment in principle to exploring new ways of working and 
supporting the delivery of sport and physical activity services. 
 

Reasons for the recommendations: 

 

The 10-year framework encourages greater joint working opportunities with Council 

services, including, Supporting People, Planning, Environment, Housing etc. 

 

The framework is described as a “call for partners working across Leicestershire, 

Leicester and Rutland to join us in thinking differently as we collaborate in using 

policy and practice to reduce physical inactivity and reduce inequality”.  It 

encourages other public services for the purpose of furthering the ambitions and 

objectives of the 10 year framework and increasing physical activity levels within 

local communities. 

 

The framework aligns with the councils continued focus on health, wellbeing and 

the wider determinants of health. The principles and priorities of the 10-year 

framework are  

compatible and complimentary with current council services, programmes and 

projects to improve the health and wellbeing of local communities. 

 

Current delivery examples include: 

Developing Physical Activity Messaging – Utilising our digital offer to promote the 

Physical Activity Narrative & Self Help Offer. Acting as a ‘Physical Activity Hub’ to 

showcase Physical Activity opportunities delivered by organisations, partners, 

community groups for the benefit of residents in the Melton Borough. 

 

Improving Children & Young People’s Mental & Physical Heath – Creating 

connectivity with partners, schools, other services and the local community to 

provide opportunities for targeted children and young people to access 

interventions/programmes delivered locally.  

 

Older People to Live Longer better Lives – Providing various opportunities for 

targeted/vulnerable residents to prevent falls, weight management programmes 

and signposting to Physical Activity opportunities to create lasting behaviour 

change to residents physical and mental health. 

 

 

The meeting closed at: 4.38 pm 

 

Chair 

 

 

Page 8



9 Cabinet : 090322 

 

 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Advice on Members’ Interests 

 
PERSONAL AND NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
If the issue being discussed affects you, your family or a close associate more than other 
people in the area, you have a personal and non-pecuniary interest.  You also have a 
personal  interest if the issue relates to an interest you must register under paragraph 9 of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

You must state that you have a personal and non-pecuniary interest and the nature of 
your interest.  You may stay, take part and vote in the meeting. 
 

PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
If a member of the public, who knows all the relevant facts, would view your personal interest in 
the issue being discussed to be so great that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest and it affects your or the other person or bodies’ financial position or relates to any 
approval, consent, licence, permission or registration then you must state that you have a 
pecuniary interest, the nature of the interest and you must leave the room*.  You must not 
seek improperly to influence a decision on that matter unless you have previously obtained a 
dispensation from the Authority’s Audit and Standards Committee.   
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND OTHER INTERESTS 
If you are present at any meeting of the Council and you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest in any matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting, if the interest 
is not already registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting.  You must not 
participate in the discussion or the vote and you must leave the room. 
 

You may not attend a meeting or stay in the room as either an Observer Councillor or *Ward 
Councillor or as a member of the public if you have a pecuniary or disclosable pecuniary 
interest*.   
 

BIAS  
If you have been involved in an issue in such a manner or to such an extent that the public are 
likely to perceive you to be biased in your judgement of the public interest (bias) then you 
should not take part in the decision-making process; you should leave the room.  You should 
state that your position in this matter prohibits you from taking part.  You may request 
permission of the Chair to address the meeting prior to leaving the room.  The Chair will need to 
assess whether you have a useful contribution to make or whether complying with this request 
would prejudice the proceedings.  A personal, pecuniary or disclosable pecuniary interest will 
take precedence over bias.  
 

In each case above, you should make your declaration at the beginning of the meeting or as 
soon as you are aware of the issue being discussed.* 
 

*There are some exceptions – please refer to paragraphs 3.12(2) and 3.12(3) of the Code of 
Conduct 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

To:    Cabinet 

Date:    16 June 2022 

Report/Comments of: Scrutiny Committee  

Title:    Town Centre Vision 

 

SUMMARY OF REPORT CONSIDERED 

Report Title: Draft Town Centre Vision 

Purpose/Description of 
Report: 

The report outlined to the Scrutiny Committee the 
vision which will be used to steer the development of 
the town centre over the next ten years.   

Key Decision: Yes 

Scrutiny Lead Member: Councillor R Child, Scrutiny Committee Chairman 

Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor R Bindloss, Portfolio Holder for Growth 
and Prosperity 

 

1. Introduction and Overview  

 

The Scrutiny Committee met on 6 June 2022 to consider a report and 

presentation on the draft town centre vision for Melton Mowbray. 

 

Initially, the Scrutiny Committee were not aware that the vision was a 

background document, however later in the meeting it was noted that the 

vision was a background document and will be used to steer the development 

of the town centre over the next ten years. The vision document is 

accompanied by an action plan of key projects and activities to be delivered 

and supported by partner organisations. The vision will help direct investment 

and funding for the delivery of these projects. 

 

It was explained to Members that the vision evidences the elements identified 

by the stakeholder consultation events and would support the Council when 

bids are made for external funding. 

 

2. Summary of Feedback/Recommendations for Cabinet Consideration 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



• The Scrutiny Committee expressed concerns over the proposed use of 

consultants on the projects proposed within the vision which had no 

chance of progressing, although it was explained to Members that 

consultants would be procured using the correct procedure and would 

only be used where there isn’t the appropriate skill set within the 

authority. 

• Members questioned the funding source for the projects and were 

informed that external funding would have to be sourced for the 

projects. It was explained if there was no funding then the projects 

would not proceed. 

• The Committee expressed disappointment that the Council had not 

successfully engaged with the landlords of the Bell Centre before 

inserting the project into the vision. It was explained the project is in the 

vision because it was identified as a priority through the stakeholder 

consultations. 

• A Member commented that youth services should figure more 

prominently within the vision, as there are references to the lack of 

provision for young people within the vision. 

• The comment was made that the vision is a good document but needs 

to be a bit more focused, however it was explained that the vision 

evidences the elements that the stakeholders believe to be important 

for the regeneration of the town centre. 

• One Member stated that it was pleasing to see Pera included within the 

vision as that has huge potential.  

• Car parking was referenced within the vision, however Members 

commented that there isn’t a clear strategy or agenda for car parking. A 

Member asked what is likely to be spent on the strategy for car parking 

and what had already been spent, the Regeneration Manager was 

unable to provide an answer at the meeting and committed to provide 

an answer outside of the meeting. 

• Concern was raised that the vision could lead to more investment for 

the cattle market, thereby directing resources away from the 

regeneration of the town centre. 

• The comment was made that Melton Mowbray is talked up as the rural 

capital of food, however the food offer was limited and that it is correct 

that the vision focusses on enhancing the food offer. 

• A Member commented that they were concerned with some of the 

language of the document, specifically the reference to the economy 

being low wage. It was felt that this had the potential to be a self-

fulfilling prophecy. 

• The Committee questioned the short timeframe for considering the 

vision and the associated levelling up fund and UK shared prosperity 

fund bids, however it was explained by Officers that the window for the 

Page 14



bids, as announced by central government, was short and there was a 

huge amount of work to do. In addition, previously the limited resources 

of the team was diverted towards facilitating the covid business grants. 

 

Written by:  Scrutiny Committee Chairman in consultation with Members of the 

Scrutiny Committee 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Scrutiny Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Rob Bindloss - Portfolio 
Holder for Growth and Prosperity 

       

  
  

 

Approval of Melton Town Centre Vision 

Corporate Priority: Delivering sustainable and inclusive growth in 
Melton 

Relevant Ward Member(s): Melton Craven: Cllr Bindloss & Cllr Douglas 

Melton Egerton: Cllr Faulkner & Cllr Smith 

Melton Warwick: Cllr Fisher & Cllr Freer 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

25 May 2022 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: Yes 

Subject to call-in: Yes 

1 Summary 

1.1 The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 includes a commitment to work with partners 

to promote Melton and to deliver the promise of the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. This is set out 

within the Council’s strategic priority to deliver sustainable and inclusive growth in Melton.  

1.2 As part of the 2021-22 budget, the Council allocated funding to support a number of town 

centre enhancements. This included a commitment to prepare a town centre vision as a 

strategic basis and evidence base for future improvements and regeneration opportunities. 

1.3 This evidence base will be kept under review and will provide a framework to guide future 

regeneration project opportunities and to support access to associated funding streams.  

1.4 The Town Centre Vision has been developed through a collaborative process, including 

engagement with a wide range of stakeholders in September 2021 to seek views on the  

issues, opportunities and aspirations for the town centre.  

1.5 Further consultation, including public consultation on the draft vision, has supported 

prioritisation of aspirations and opportunities in the form of a set of project opportunities.  

1.6 The draft town centre vision sets out a long-term vision / aspiration for the town centre. It 

seeks to strengthen Melton’s unique position as Rural Capital of Food to maximise the 

potential of Melton Mowbray as rural market town and proposes to deliver the Town 

Centre vision by: 

- Reinforcing commercial and economic activities 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

2 

 

- Enhancing visitor experience 

- Increasing the use of public open spaces  

1.7 The Town Centre vision is an important framework document for Melton and the 

collaborative process taken to develop it has led to the development of an action plan. It is 

a live document that will be updated on an annual basis and will allow the Council and its 

partners to utilise it as an evidence based framework for future funding and investment 

opportunities.    

1.8 The Council is currently preparing two funding bids that will be underpinned by the Town 

centre Vision evidence base: 

a) The Council’s Levelling Up Fund Bid is being prepared and is due to be submitted by 

6th  July 2022 

b) The Council’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund Bid is being prepared and is due to be 

submitted by 1st August 2022. 

 

2 Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

 

2.1 Notes and endorses the consultation version of the Town Centre Vision and 
considers any amendments required following feedback received from the 
Council’s Scrutiny Committee and through the public consultation. 

2.2 Delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Growth and Prosperity, to make any necessary amendments to the 
Town Centre Vision following the consultation, and to finalise the document. 

2.3 Acknowledge that formal adoption of the Town Centre vision will underpin the 
submission of the Council’s round 2 Levelling Up Fund bid. 

 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 Priority 3 of the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2020-24 ‘Delivering sustainable and 

inclusive growth in Melton’ identifies the following focus areas: 

• Work with our partners to promote Melton and deliver the promise of the ‘Rural Capital 
of Food’. 

• Regenerate our town centre, encourage inward investment and create jobs. 

• Deliver inclusive growth by improving access to higher paid jobs, improving skills and 
tackling low wage economy. 

3.2 Melton Mowbray town centre is the engine of the borough’s economy and is a key visitor 

destination. A long-term vision is required to steer the development of the town centre 

over the next ten years.  

3.3 The Town Centre Vision document is accompanied by an action plan which includes 

projects and activities identified by the Council and its partners that would support delivery 

of the vision. The Vision will help direct investment and funding towards delivery of 

projects in the future. 

Page 18



Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

3 

 

3.4 The Government has recently published the Levelling Up White Paper and the Levelling 

Up and Regeneration Bill. The Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Round 2 and UK Shared 

Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) have also recently been announced. This Vision and action Plan 

will support the Council’s efforts in seeking funding to deliver projects, through these 

funding programmes.   

 

4 Background 

4.1 Melton Mowbray town centre is the engine of the economy and hub for Melton borough. In 

order for Melton to thrive, it is important to support the town centre to be resilient and to 

adapt to needs of the residents, businesses and visitors at all times.  

4.2 The recent events of Brexit and COVID-19 pandemic along with the changing trends in 

retail, leisure and commercial sectors have meant transformational changes to most high 

streets and town centres across the country are required. While Melton Mowbray town 

centre has managed to minimise the negative impact of these events so far, with a lower 

than average vacancy rate, it is evident that an agreed and aspirational vision is required 

to enable the town centre to respond to the current challenges by building on its existing 

strengths.    

4.3 The time is now to develop a clear vision and framework for investment in the town centre 

to maximise the current opportunities that exist through Government funding being made 

available to local authorities. With this in mind, following two stakeholder events the 

Council and its partners have come together and are seeking to agree a shared vision to 

enhance and deliver on the town’s enviable reputation as the ‘Rural Capital of Food’.   

4.4 The Town Centre vision is an important framework document for Melton and the 

collaborative process taken to develop it has led to the development of an action plan. It is 

a live document that will be updated on an annual basis and will allow the Council and its 

partners to utilise it as an evidence based framework for future funding and investment 

opportunities.    

 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 A vision and action plan for Melton Mowbray town centre:  

5.2 Melton Borough Council is committed to supporting and enhancing how Melton Mowbray 

Town Centre supports the wider local economy, residents, workers and visitors. The 

Vision will help the Council and its partners to enhance the town and its ‘offer’ by providing 

a universally agreed approach to delivery of the agreed aspirations. 

5.3 As well setting a Vision, the final document will provide a pipeline of proposed projects and 

activities through which the Council will be able to proactively seek funding and investment 

(both public and private) to achieve the agreed aim of securing, enhancing and promoting 

Melton Mowbray’s position as being the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. 

5.4 Beyond simply identifying projects and activities, this document will also provide clarity 

and an agreed position on the importance of future development opportunities and 

development activity in the town. This will help to ensure the town centre continues to 

serve as a functional economic area by attracting new users and continuing to provide a 

space where residents of Melton and its wider rural hinterland can continue to visit, work, 

Page 19



Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

4 

 

live and socialise. This is both for the users of today but also ensuring the town can 

effectively respond to the growth planned over the next 15-20 years. 

5.5 The Council has many different roles to play in the progression of the range of projects 

identified in the vision document for Melton Town.  

5.6 Whilst there will be projects that the Council will lead, in many instances the council will 

instead, act as an enabler or facilitator by acting as a champion for the town and working 

with private sector partners and organisations to encourage investment into the town. This 

supporting role can be undertaken in many ways ranging from proactive engagement, 

persuasion, and negotiation right through to utilising the powers and tools available to us 

as a Local Authority (i.e. planning, regulatory and enforcement) to encourage and enable 

change and improvements.  

5.7 The development of this vision document is a first step in taking a long-term view for the 

town centre. Having a wide ranging and agreed vision for the town is intended to act as a 

strategic lever, to ensure all key partners and landlords recognise their role in improving 

the overall offer and providing greater leverage to ensure sufficient commitment and 

engagement from all parties.  

5.8 The proposed action plan includes proposals for the following categories of projects: 

• Development projects and opportunities 

• Transport and connectivity projects 

• Public realm enhancement opportunities 

• Heritage enhancement projects 

• Events, markets and tourism activities 

• Place-branding, promotion and marketing activities 

• Business, employment and skills actions 

• Place management and community stewardship approach 

• Sustainability initiatives 

• Governance and monitoring activities 

5.9 In seeking to ensure the Vision enjoys continuing support, a further period of public and 

stakeholder consultation is currently underway and due to conclude on 13th June. This is 

to ensure that those who utilise the town and those who are served by the town have the 

opportunity to comment and provide their thoughts on how the town should be developed 

and adapted moving forward. Demonstrating meaningful engagement and incorporation of 

the views of our residents will be important in any future funding or investment 

applications.  

5.10 A summary of the feedback from the public and stakeholder consultation will be provided 

verbally at the Cabinet meeting.  

5.11 As part of the consultation process, the Council’s Scrutiny Committee considered the 

consultation draft at their meeting on 6th June. Committee members provided feedback 

and comments which will be taken into consideration when developing the final version of 

the Town centre Vision document. A brief summary of these comments can be found at 

Section 7 of this report. 

Page 20



Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

5 

 

5.12 It is proposed that following conclusion of the consultation process, authority is delegated 

to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Growth and Prosperity, 

to make any necessary amendments to the Town Centre Vision, and to finalise the 

document. 

5.13 The Town Centre vision is an important framework document for Melton and will allow the 

Council and its partners to utilise it as an evidence-based framework for future funding and 

investment opportunities.    

5.14 The Council is currently preparing two funding bids that will be underpinned by the Town 

centre Vision evidence base: 

a) The Council’s Levelling Up Fund Bid is being prepared and is due to be submitted in 

July 2022 

b) The Council’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund Bid is being prepared and is due to be 

submitted in August 2022 

 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 The Council could choose not to progress a vision for the Town. However, this is not 

recommended because:  

6.1.1 Given the impact of the pandemic and the structural changes in town centres more 

generally, it is important to set out a vision and investment plan for the town centre.  

6.1.2 Having a clear vision will strengthen the submission of the Levelling Up Fund bid and 

UKSPF investment plan as it provides an evidence base, a framework for prioritisation and 

demonstrates a collaborative approach that includes views of stakeholders and the 

community. 

 

7 Consultation 

7.1 The Town Centre Vision has been informed by 2 stakeholder workshops, with a wide 

range of perspective incorporated, including specific engagement with students of SMB 

College Group. 

7.2 The Vision document has also been informed by a range of surveys and consultations 

undertaken over the last 18 months, including work led by the Council’s Scrutiny Task and 

Finish Group in response to the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on our ‘Place’.  

7.3 A summary of consultation activity is included within section 2 of the Vision document. 

7.4 Most recently the consultation draft has been shared with all stakeholders who have 

engaged with the council previously, including all businesses within the BID area, Melton 

Place Board partners and all partner organisations identified within the document. The 

public consultation is due to finish on 13th June and verbal feedback will be provided at the 

Cabinet meeting of any comments received. The responses to this consultation will be 

published on the Council’s website for participants to see the comments provided.  

7.5 The Council’s Scrutiny Committee met on 6th June to consider and provide feedback to 

Cabinet on the vision document as part of the consultation process. These comments will 

be presented to Cabinet for consideration within the final vision document before it is 

adopted. The main observations are listed as below: 

Page 21

https://democracy.melton.gov.uk/documents/s14739/Item%204%20-%20Appendix%20A%20-%20Response%20and%20Recovery%20Task%20Finish%20Group%20Place%20Final%20Report.pdf


Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

6 

 

a) Youth services and activities should figure more prominently within the vision. More 

adequate attention needs to be given within the document to provision that will attract 

younger people and families. 

b) Whilst car parking is reference within the document, members of the committee felt 

there needed to be a clearer strategy or agenda for car parking in the town more 

generally. 

c) Concern was raised that regarding ensuring any investment in the cattle market / 

Stockyard, did not detract from the wider town centre offer. 

d) Comment was made that whilst Melton Mowbray is described as the Rural Capital of 

Food, the food offer was limited. Members were supportive of the vision’s focus on 

enhancing the food offer. 

e) It was felt that the language in the document was at times rather negative with 

reference to ‘Low wage, low skill’ and that this may impact on aspirations for the town  

f) Members where pleased to see PERA referenced in the document due to its offer and 

the potential benefits it has to the wider town. 

g) Members were keen to ensure that value for money will be achieved in delivery of any 

subsequent submissions and project development arrangements  

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

• Cabinet to consider the feedback received from the Scrutiny Committee and through 
the public consultation which concludes on 13th June.  

• Officers to work with the Portfolio Holder for Growth and Prosperity to make any 
necessary amendments to the Town Centre Vision prior to adoption by end of June. 

• Submission of LUF bid – 6th July 2022 

• Submission of UKSPF Investment Plan – 1st August 2022  

 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 The projects identified in the action plan are not a commitment from the Council or any 

organisation, they are identified as a potential list of activities that would help deliver the 

town centre vision. Delivery of projects or programmes of work would be accelerated by 

securing funding and partners’ support. Having a vision in place will provide a framework 

for funding bids to be prepared.  

9.2 Match funding will be required to support the Levelling Up Funding bid which is due to be 

considered by Cabinet on 16th June 2022. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Deputy s.151 Officer 

 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report / decision as it is a list of potential 

activities.   

10.2 Legal implications will be considered throughout each project in the usual way. 

Page 22



Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

7 

 

10.3 Members should note, the Vision will need to have regard to the adopted Local Plan 

policies covering the town centre area but will not be binding on decisions of the Local 

Planning Authority. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Monitoring Officer 

 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment will be prepared for the Vision document prior to final 

approval by the end of June. 

11.2 Each project in the action plan will require an EIA through its design and development 

stages. 

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 Community safety implications have been considered and projects identified to address 

them. 

 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 Economic, environmental and social sustainability is a key theme that runs across all 

projects and activities within this action plan. It is envisaged that this will be considered at 

all stages of design and delivery of all projects.  

 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 Planning and enforcement implications have been considered at high level in proposing 

the projects. All projects in the action plan will need to consider these implications at 

design and delivery stages. 

 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 Stakeholders and residents feel their views 
are not listened to. 

Very Low Critical Medium Risk 

2 The Vision and Action Plan are not 
approved in time for the submission of the 
bid and the opportunity is missed to 
strengthen the bids. 

Low Critical Medium Risk 

3 Projects are added to the action plan that 
are not deliverable or not owned by any 
partner organisation. 

Low Critical Medium Risk 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

Page 23



Cabinet Report 

Draft Town Centre Vision 

8 

 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

5 High 
    

4 Significant 

    

3 Low 
  2,3  

2 Very Low 
  1  

1 Almost 
impossible     

 

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 The Vision and Action Plan are informed by a series of consultation events with a 
range of partners. Care has been taken to address all concerns raised and 
accommodate all suggestions in the plan. 

2 The timescales are tight, yet achievable. Momentum will need to be maintained in 
order to meet the deadlines. 

3 The action plan should only include projects that contribute towards delivering the 
vision. The Council will work with partners to prepare deliverable plans for these 
projects. 

 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 None 

 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix 1 – A Vision for Melton Mowbray Town Centre- Draft for Consultation May 2022. 

Report Author: Pranali Parikh, Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 504321 

PParikh@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Pranali Parikh, Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504321 

PParikh@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 24



A VISION FOR

MELTON 
MOWBRAY
TOWN CENTRE
Prepared by Iceni Projects on Behalf of 

Melton Mowbray Borough Council.

Draft for Consultation – May 2022 Page 25

Appendix 1



A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

Contents    

Introduction 4

Section 1: Melton Mowbray Town Centre Context 6

Section 2: Consultation 18

Section 3: Vision  26

Section 4: Proposals 40

Section 5: Delivery 60

Appendix: Action Plan 62

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

3

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

2

P
age 26



Introduction  
Melton Mowbray has a unique heritage as a rural 
market town. It has been at the centre of the 
regional economy for over 1,000 years and has 
seen enormous changes during its history. With 
an international recognition as the home of pork 
pies and stilton cheese, it has earned an enviable 
reputation as “the Rural Capital of Food”. The 
town centre livestock market is a unique feature, 
reinforcing its rural food heritage. 

Melton Mowbray is though more than just a centre of 

excellence for food; it is also a subregional shopping 

centre, a centre of heritage assets and a well visited 

destination for leisure and tourism. Since the adoption of 

the Melton Local Plan in 2018, the town has experienced 

significant growth in planning applications for housing 

developments, supported by the commitment to delivery 

of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR) and 

the expectation of over 4,000 homes in two sustainable 

urban neighbourhoods on the edge of the town. It is 

critical that the town centre is in a position ready to 

benefit from this growth, investment and new spending 

capacity generated by the prospect of over 10,000 

additional people living within the walking and cycling 

distance of the town centre. 

This vision for Melton Mowbray responds to a number 

of factors including current and emerging central 

Government policy, funding opportunities and a post-

COVID, post-Brexit economy. For Melton Mowbray, 

with significant infrastructure investment planned 

and identified within the Leicester and Leicestershire 

Strategic Growth Plan as a key centre for growth 

and regeneration, this is a hugely significant period, 

with a once in a generation opportunity to elevate the 

Borough’s economic performance to realise its potential.

It is anticipated that the longer-term impact of Covid-19 

will be to accelerate changes that are already occurring 

in employment, retail and other commercial sectors. 

The town centre has been more resilient to these 

changes so far, compared to other similar places 

nationwide, due to a high concentration of independent 

local businesses. But the shift to online retail, changing 

trends in leisure and changing consumer behaviours 

have taken its toll and impacted negatively on the 

footfall and spend in the economy. 

The time is now to re-establish and reinvigorate a 

clear vision and framework for investment in the town 

centre. This document establishes a direction for future 

developments, setting out how tangible change and 

increased investment could take place to capitalise on 

opportunities. It brings together the plans of all relevant 

stakeholders in a coherent way and demonstrates 

how the shared vision will be achieved by collaborative 

efforts of all involved. It builds on an extensive body of 

work, including consultation with the community and 

local stakeholders, along with the existing evidence 

base. Once approved and dependent on the comments 

received, it will be used in conjunction with other 

studies to support future work in the area and signal 

a statement of intent around the future shape and 

development of the town centre.

Reinforcing and enhancing Melton’s reputation as 

the ‘Rural Capital of Food’ cannot be achieved by one 

organisation or one project. It needs to be delivered 

by a complex set of overlapping activities pursued 

by a range of partners, with clear objectives and a 

strong commitment. This vision document identifies 

development sites, connectivity projects, public realm 

enhancement opportunities, activities for events, tourism, 

promotion, skills development and business support. The 

Action Plan is envisaged to be a live document that will be 

reviewed and refreshed on annual basis. 

By delivering these projects and then linking them 

more effectively, we will create a strong proposition 

for the town centre which help realise our vision whilst 

responding to the numerous challenges we face. It 

will help establish Melton Mowbray as a destination of 

choice for food experience, enterprise and innovation. 

It will animate the high street and create a proposition 

which will help us validate our claim as the ‘Rural Capital 

of Food’ and create a blueprint for how rural market 

towns can reinvent themselves to become the real 

community hubs.

This Town Centre Vision, created and overseen by a 

wide range of stakeholders through the Melton Place 

Board, is devised as a decisive and confident step 

forward for shaping the future, for the benefit of the 

residents, businesses and visitors to Melton Mowbray. 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

4 5

P
age 27



Section 1   

Melton Mowbray 
Town Centre 
Context   

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

6 7

P
age 28



Melton has a strong heritage in food production and has 
the capacity to be a regional, national and international 
centre of excellence for food production in the UK.  

Food production is a naturally resilient industry sector, with the 

changes in export and import markets there are opportunities 

and threats. There is a hiatus while the impact of Covid-19 

still reverberates through society and businesses, creating a 

natural reset point for planning and investment proposals. 

Those places that respond earliest to the wider impacts on 

retail and other societal shifts, in the context of Brexit, post 

Covid- 19 will create more resilient communities for their 

people than those that delay and obfuscate.

Historically the agricultural, food production and catering 

and retailing of food has been perceived as being a relatively 

low wage economy. However the changing availability of 

migrant labour and increased is forcing efficiencies into the 

agricultural and food production sectors that will, over the plan 

period increase, the pay and conditions structures. This will 

be through the introduction of new skills related to increased 

technology and increasing efficiencies.    

To do this Melton will need to have the physical infrastructure 

to support existing businesses, have innovation space to 

enable new business and product development, centres of 

excellence that can deliver the skills and training necessary 

to support the industry and provide facilities, locations and 

spaces that support trade development. 

Melton also needs to have the capacity to help the food 

production industries to project themselves to local, regional, 

national and international markets.  Physical spaces must 

be able to attract trade and consumer interest; creating 

synergies that encourage location of food production 

industries to locate in and around Melton. Agricultural and 

food production support animal welfare, industries, transport, 

engineering and professional services with specialism related 

to food production respond to the concentration of industry in 

the subregion and create synergistic economic growth.

Economic Context

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

8 9

P
age 29



The main economic challenges can be summarised as: 

1. High levels of reliance on sectors significantly 

impacted by Brexit and Covid.

Over the last few years Melton has been experiencing 

higher levels of unemployment and it is expected that 

over the next year or so this is likely to get worse. At 

its height of the pandemic 6,000 jobs (25% of the job 

market in Melton) were on furlough. 

2. Lack of high-value job opportunities impacting 

social mobility and opportunities 

Melton has amongst the lowest levels of workplace 

earnings in the east midlands and also suffers when 

it comes to social mobility amongst its residents (ie 

the ease at which people can work themselves out of 

poverty) Whilst these are both complex matters the 

over reliance of traditionally low paid and vulnerable 

jobs which are highly susceptible to external shocks.

3. Imbalance in visitor demographics and lack of 

attractions for young people. 

Historically the offer developed within Melton 

Mowbray has been targeted at the coach and group 

markets. Whilst this has been extremely beneficial, this 

market lacks diversity. When it comes to facilities or 

experiences that will attract a more diverse crowd that 

will spend more money on higher-end products it is felt 

that Melton is lacking.

4. Low number of overnight and extended stay for 

visitor economy

Melton’s retail and tourism and hospitality sector is 

the one of the main generators of jobs in the area 

with over 15% of total employment falling within this 

sector. These sectors are notoriously susceptible to 

external shocks which is exacerbated by an increasing 

overreliance on day visitors to the area which current 

account for 90% of all visitor numbers but only 63% 

of all income. These figures have stagnated and been 

largely the same for the last ten years. Melton is looking 

to develop destinations that encourage weekend 

visits and overnight stays to ensure dwell times are 

maximised and spend per visit increased, not just in the 

town centre, but the wider rural hinterland.

5. The contribution and diversity of rural enterprises 

Achieving sustained economic growth in productivity 

is critical for tackling the disparity between rural and 

urban areas. Productivity is the single most important 

determinant of living standards and is generally 

lower in rural areas than it is in urban areas. There is 

significant scope to strengthen productivity levels in 

rural areas, effectively boosting growth and income 

across the UK economy. Whilst Melton Mowbray is 

the focus for economic growth, the contribution and 

diversity of rural enterprises to the borough’s economy 

now and in the future cannot be underplayed. 

6. Despite the continued spread of our towns 

and cities, the UK geographic landscape is still 

predominantly rural. 

Employment growth in the rural areas will be 

supported where it contributes to the long-term 

sustainability of villages and is sympathetic to the rural 

character and attractiveness of the area. Increased 

homeworking and small business start-ups are 

anticipated, resulting in part by recent global events 

and improvements in broadband speeds.

Economic Position
Manufacturing is the largest sector in the 
District’s economy, accounting for 22% of 
jobs and 42% of GVA. 

Food and drink manufacturing is the key sector 

accounting for 78% of total manufacturing output 

and 33% of the Borough’s total economic output.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

11

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

10

P
age 30



!.

!.!.

!.

!.

!.
!.

MZ 1
40SqH

MZ 2
87SqH

MZ 3
26SqH

1920
dwellings

1975
dwellings

Melton Borough Council License Number 100019651 [2022].
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database rights [2022].

Legend
!. Indicative South MMDR Roundabouts

Indicative South MMDR

Allocated Employment Space

Food Manufacturing Zones

Sustainable Neighbourhoods

Town Centre Boundary

Main Roads

The large black line shows the approved route 
of the North and East Distributor Road with the 
adjoining roundabouts. 

¯
Melton Borough 

Growth Map0 0.5 10.25 Miles
Planning Context
The Melton Local Plan was adopted in October 2018; it is an 
ambitious plan for the town and the wider Borough, guiding 
land use up to 2036, and envisaging a thriving borough through 
planned development and infrastructure investment. 

Across the Borough, more than 6000 homes are planned, representing 

approximately 40% increase in the size of the town alone. The Melton 

Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR) in addition to the new education 

facilities required to support the housing growth represent an investment 

of approximately £160m in the town. The town centre has a varied range 

of commercial activity and independent retailers with generally low 

vacancy rates. The vision of the Local Plan seeks to raise the quality, 

interest and diversity of the town centre and reduce the impact of traffic, 

with a strategic objective to enhance the vitality and viability of Melton 

Mowbray town centre. Policy EC5 of the Plan seeks to ensure that Melton 

Mowbray Town Centre is the focus for economic growth, and that the 

Council will work proactively with businesses and property owners to 

identify development, redevelopment and site assembly opportunities to 

meet needs for additional comparison retail floorspace. Policy EC6 seeks 

to protect the existing primary shopping frontages for retail uses. 

The wider Melton Mowbray Transport Strategy is supported by policy 

IN1 and is now underway. The first major element is the Melton Mowbray 

Distributor Road, which will relieve congestion in the town. It is a single 

carriageway road which will join Nottingham Road (A606) in the north of the 

town to Leicester Road (A607) in the west, via the north, east and south. 

Key
Indicative South MMDR Roundabouts

Indicative South MMDR

Allocated Employment Space

Food Manufacturing Zones

Sustainable Neighbourhoods

Town Centre Boundary

Main Roads

The large black line shows the approved route of the North and East Distributor Road with the  
adjoining roundabouts.

!.

!.!.

!.

!.

!.
!.

MZ 1
40SqH

MZ 2
87SqH

MZ 3
26SqH

1920
dwellings

1975
dwellings

Melton Borough Council License Number 100019651 [2022].
Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database rights [2022].

Legend
!. Indicative South MMDR Roundabouts

Indicative South MMDR

Allocated Employment Space

Food Manufacturing Zones

Sustainable Neighbourhoods

Town Centre Boundary

Main Roads

The large black line shows the approved route 
of the North and East Distributor Road with the 
adjoining roundabouts. 

¯
Melton Borough 

Growth Map0 0.5 10.25 Miles

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

12 13

P
age 31



In preparing the proposals we have 

undertaken spatial analysis of:

Melton Borough

Nottingham

Loughborough

Leicester Oakham

Stamford

Grantham

Melton and its Regional neighbours

The Landscape and Watercourses

Urban Form

The Routes Including the Rail Station

Gateways

The Importance of the Town Centre

 Opportunities / Constraints 

Above: The town of Melton 
has a positive relationship with 
its large rural hinterland. The 
main routes through the area 
radiate from the town’s core, 
connecting up to other market 
town and the metropolitan areas 
of Nottingham and Leicester.

Melton is therefore both  

identified with food production 

and market trade.  

Spatial Analysis 

Melton Mowbray sits in the northeast 
of Leicestershire and has great links 
to numerous key economic centres 
(Grantham, Leicester, and Nottingham) 
and is within easy reach of key transport 
related infrastructure (less than 90mins to 
3 international airports, easy access to the 
A1 and M1 and with 90% of the land mass 
within a 4-hour drive) which makes it the 
perfect location to invest in. 

Due to its strategically important location and the 

work undertaken to date the town is predicted 

to grow by 40% over the next 15 years and offers 

tremendous potential for anyone looking to invest 

in the area. Between the new housing being 

built, ongoing investment in its town centre and 

the development of the Distributor Road in the 

Melton area over £600m worth of investment 

is expected in the next 15-20 years marking 

the area as the place to be in the east Midlands 

area. Melton Mowbray recently was identified 

as the second-best place to live in the east 

midlands for 2022.

As well as being the perfect place for any new 

or growing business to be located, Melton 

has an international reputation for high quality 

products such as pork pies and stilton cheese. 

This provenance alongside a burgeoning and, 

in many instances, award winning food and 

drink production sector has meant that Melton 

Mowbray is now widely recognised as the Rural 

Capital of Food. 

Melton Geographical Context 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

15

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

14

P
age 32



Above: The heart of a vibrant, healthy Melton 
is the ability to walk and to encourage those 
coming to the town to choose sustainable means 
of transport.

The station and Wilton Road coach stop are well 

placed for dropping off visitors within 5 minutes of  

the town centre. 

For those who need to arrive by car, the north and 

south gateways to Melton are important for creating a 

sense of arrival. These gateway locations need to be 

inviting and legible with well-considered streetscape 

design and signage.

Plan shows easy of walking from public transport 

assets including coach parks, car parks and station. 

The station creates a great access opportunity as all 

town centre attractors are all within 10 minutes’ walk of 

the station.

Walkability from public transport assets

Key

Main gateways to town centre

Important town centre attractors and key pedestrian desire lines between them

Tourism attractors

Protection of town centre frontage

Opposite & Below: These 
plans show the importance of 
strengthening connectivity 
between key destinations  
with the town centre. 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

16 17

P
age 33



Section 2   

Consultation  

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

18 19

P
age 34



Place Survey by Scrutiny Committee’s Task 
and Finish Group, October to December 2020: 

23rd October to 4th December 2020

327 responses 

Country Park was identified as the most used  

leisure venue

Less than 50% respondents use the town 

centre multiple times per week

Over 80% respondents asked for more High  

Street shops

Food fairs, vintage fairs and themed days - most 

popular events

What is Great About Melton

Below is a word cloud created from an open text 

question about why Melton is great. The darker the 

word the higher the frequency of use and as you can 

see the people, parks and community still stand out as 

the most frequently used words.  

40.77%

25.38%

21.54%

12.31%

Transport Infrastructure

Entertainment Venues / Activity

Leisure Facilities

Other

The area of Melton’s offer that needs improving

Transport Questions

Sufficient car parking 

 

+ 72% - 16%

Car parks are 

reasonably priced 

+ 18% - 67%

Ample short stay parking 

 

+16% - 66%

Cycle lanes & bicycle 

parking 

+ 8% - 53%

Enough local bus 

services 

+ 14% - 43%

There is sufficient car 

parking available

MBC car parks are 

reasonably priced

There is ample short 

stay on road street 

parking

There are enough cycle 

lanes and parking for 

bicycles

There are enough local 

regular bus services 

servicing Melton

 Completely Disagree                    Mostly Disagree                    Neither Agree nor Disagree                    Mostly Agree                     Completely Agree

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

In this section  we set out a summary of the various 

consultations undertaken in relation to the town 

centre, including a specific workshop undertaken in 

late 2021 with a cross section of stakeholders from 

across the community to inform this piece of work. 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

20 21

P
age 35



Community Stakeholder 

Workshop, September 2021 

The purpose of the Community Stakeholder 

Workshop held on the 24 September 2021 was to 

get in-depth feedback on topics from a range of key 

representatives of the local community. The session 

was designed to enable the group to contribute their 

thoughts and ideas on the future of the town centre 

and to suggest creative solutions or ideas to inform 

the town centre vision.

The workshop was structured around feedback 

/ plenary sessions, where stakeholder 

representatives reported back the key themes 

following smaller group discussions. 

Each group was asked to consider assets, 

challenges and opportunities within each of the 

themes below, considering young people, the 

environment, movement and visual impact. 

Tourism / Visitors  

Education / Skills / Training 

Employment / Innovation

A selection of maps and design analysis work was 

included to assist with the discussions. 

Following the workshop, a report was produced 

noting comments made and circulated to all 

participants. 

A summary of the feedback received under each of 

the key themes is set out opposite. 

Theme 1:  
Tourism / Events / Visitors 

• Melton should be about more 

than ‘just the pie’

• Importance of waterways 

/ open space / cycling and 

walking 

• The need for a hotel in walking 

distance to the  

town centre 

• Need to be action focussed, 

with council as driver 

• Cattle Market to be linked to 

town centre  

• Lack of public transport limits 

ability for evening economy 

Theme 3:  
Placemaking / Connectivity 

• Gateways need to be 

improved 

• Pedestrian movement 

needs to be prioritised and 

improved 

• If the park and town 

centre are better linked 

and are seen as one, the 

attractiveness of the town as 

a whole will increase

• Civic activities associated 

with waterways are needed 

• The number of unique 

attractor needs to be 

increased

Theme 2: 
 Economy / Enterprise

• People in Melton do not shop/ 

eat in Melton 

• Range of shops (food shopping, 

no comparison) 

• Range of eateries (fast food) 

• Infrastructure (taxis/ evening 

economy) 

• Retail leakage to the north

Low wages 

• Type of job (food factory) 

• Skills training (tech/ building 

skills/ jobs available). 

• BMC cannot secure 

apprenticeships / work 

experience locally

• Housing typology 

• Dwell time/ discretionary spend 

• Premium ranges needed 

• Diversity (craft markets/ street 

food) 

• Competing offers (Oakham, 

Uppingham, Stamford, Market 

Harborough) 

Structural Issues 

• Brexit 

• Wider training – degree courses 

• Catch 22 

• Time takes for change 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

22 23

P
age 36



Community Stakeholder 

Workshop 2, February 2022

The purpose of the second Community Stakeholder 

Workshop, held on 23 February 2022, was to present 

the emerging vision and key projects/ sites and gain 

feedback from a range of key representatives of the 

local community to enable the team to finalise the 

document incorporating feedback. 

Over 30 community representatives attended 

including young people, local business owners, the 

police, the BID and councillors. 

The workshop included a presentation by Iceni 

Projects, followed by a breakout session in groups.

A further presentation by Leicestershire County 

Council outlining emerging transport concepts with 

an open discussion formed the second part of the 

workshop.  

Key topics raised include: 

Ensuring clear and pleasing routes to the  

town centre 

The potential of the Bell Centre and its  

potential as a food court or similar 

The importance of car parking 

The barrier to movement between the 

 town centre and Cattle Market 

The importance of connectivity 

Waterways and their huge potential for  

attracting visitors and hosting events

How key the events programme is to the  

town centre 

The widening of some of the site opportunity 

areas was suggested by attendees to ensure 

connectivity and public realm opportunities 

were maximised

Consider holistic approach to place 

management including safety, accessibility, 

legibility, cleanliness etc

The importance of working with businesses 

and skill providers to create, support and 

retain high skilled jobs

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

25

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

24

P
age 37



Section 3   

A Vision for 
Melton 
Mowbray  

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

26 27

P
age 38



The Rural Capital of Food 

The proposal is to strengthen Melton’s position as the 

Rural Capital of Food and to maximise the potential of 

Melton Mowbray as a rural market town.

In order to achieve this vision, it is proposed to develop a 

connected network of ‘Centres for Excellence’ linked by 

the High Street. 

 

In respect of the food and drink sector, there is the 

potential to consider a core triangle of activity – bringing 

together the Bell Centre, College and Livestock Market 

sites and we expand on this in the proposals section of 

the report. 

Flow of people, ideas,

skills, talent, money, 

vibrancy…

Innovation & 
Education

Experience & 
Involvement

Enterprise 
& Events

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

29

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

28

P
age 39



Make

Make

Experience

Innovation

Enterprise

Residential Urban  
Extension

Residential Urban  
Extension

Constituent parts of Melton’s 
‘Rural Capital of Food offer.’

The town centre has a key role to play in the 
delivery of the ‘Rural Capital of Food’ (RCoF) 
proposition, acting as a draw from the rural 
hinterland as a centre learn and to experience 
what the area has to offer but to also socialise 
and act as a key service destination. 

The area is also a key provider of jobs and skills for 

residents and students in the area. It is also a key 

destination to attract day trippers or those from 

further afield to visit, spend money and enhance  

our local economy. 

This plan is to enhance and build upon these 

foundations to continue to serve exiting audiences and 

attract new ones by creating a resilient, flexible and 

sustainable offer for the town.

The vision includes: 

Improving the vitality of the town centre and support 

RCoF ambition; 

Capitalising on Melton’s designation as a  

Food Enterprise Zone, boosting food and  

farming businesses; 

Supporting a successful programme of themed 

events and initiatives; 

Promoting innovation, enterprise and growth in key 

sectors that support the RCoF; and  

Enhancing aspirations, skills and economic activity. 

The Rural Capital of Food is: 

a key node in the farm to fork journey for English 

and Midlands farmers and producers that have 

local, regional, national and international food 

market ambitions; 

a platform for scientific study and research 

grounded in experiences of the science of food 

production,  a centre of innovation that encourages 

and supports new product development and 

techniques to drive growth in the sector; 

a source of scientific study and research grounded 

in experiences of the science of food production; 

a learning and training centre of excellence to grow 

and develop the skills needed to support the industry 

and to give personal development opportunities to 

the people of Melton;

a showcase for exemplar UK foods in a location 

that is well connected in an attractive setting that 

encourages dwell time from food tourism and 

broadens the take up of products and vitality in the 

town centre; 

an experiential offer that encourages day trippers and 

holiday goers to the markets and events in Melton 

Mowbray and the ability to try out  and explore facets 

of the food industry whether as consumers, cooks, 

specialist breeders or hobbyists; and 

wearing its history with pride and cherishing its beauty.

The town centre has a key role in the delivery of the 

Rural Capital of Food acting as a draw for the rural 

hinterland, a destination for day trippers, visitor 

destination and a location for integrating learning and 

economic activities. 

Planning policy to encourage upgrading of space 

to serve these audiences will assist in creating a 

sustainable and resilient offer for the town.

Make

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

30 31

P
age 40



Physical  
Infrastructure

MMDR

Broadband Roll Out

Livestock Market

Street Markets

Historic attractors – in 

terms of architecture form

Cultural attractors

• Theatre

• Parks

• Waterways 

Education Attractors

Car Parking

Roads

Rail

Soft  infrastructure 
/ Assets

Business Support 

Services

Education services

Experiential environment

Tourism Services

Sports

Events and Festivals

International standards of 

food (POD/TIG)

Branding

Economic  
Infrastructure 

Existing Businesses

Business Support entities 

(e.g. abattoirs, solicitors) 

Growth Space

Skills 

Hotels

Innovation Space

Conference Space

Exhibition Space

Heritage 
1,000 years of history

Development
The plans to create a place that 
nurtures tealent

Place
A unique, historic environment with 
lots of potential

A Holistic Approach

This Vision sets out a reasoned proposition for Melton Town Centre and demonstrates how the opportunities could 

be delivered. It has a number of guiding principles:

It is Holistic 

The Vision seeks to take into account all aspects 

of Melton as a place to live, work or visit - for young 

and old, for individuals and families, for those 

working and studying and those not working. The 

vision needs to to attract and inspire people to 

invest their time, energy or money in the town.

It is Attractive 

People give Melton its purpose; people support 

business and create vitality and viability in town centre. 

Viable and vital town centres support demand and 

enable profitable businesses to invest in their town.  

Melton’s ability to attract people is fundamental to its 

future and the services it can afford to provide. People 

are attracted to places they like, that make sense and 

that support them when needed. The Vision draws 

on the strengths of the town, sets out how Melton can 

enhance its attractiveness for the people for whatever 

reason they find themselves in or around Melton. 

It is Sustainable

Places are economically and environmentally 

sustainable if people are prepared to invest their 

time, energy and money in a location not just at the 

beginning of projects but on an ongoing basis.  The 

investment of time, energy and money is based 

on the benefits that people receive from a place, 

whether these are individual or collective, whether 

they are for careers, jobs, enhancing or learning new 

skills, accessing opportunities, having experiences 

or simply living and whether they are of delivering 

growth or assisting those that need support.  

It is Unique 

The architecture, character, values and history of 

the town is born of its geography, the community, 

skills and industry that have grown up in and around 

the town and the people who have lived in and 

around or worked or visited Melton over time.  The 

experiences of Melton Mowbray are unique to 

Melton Mowbray and the collective experiences 

of those who live or work in Melton Mowbray; the 

Vision celebrates this and sets out how the future 

for the Town Centre and wider district can build on 

the uniqueness of Melton.

We have lots of compelling assets to help achieve this:

To deliver this aspirational vision, it is proposed to focus on interventions in three key areas:

Reinforcing commercial and economic activities

Enhancing visitor experience

Increasing the use of public open spaces

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

32 33

P
age 41



Assets to Work With

A number of sites in the town centre are identified 

for commercial opportunities to create jobs, 

support business start-up, retention and growth.  

It is proposed to focus on food production 

and professional services as key employment 

sectors for Melton. The demand analysis 

(2019) noted high occupancy rate in the current 

provision and identified strong demand for 

smaller size B2 units in the town centre. It is 

proposed to focus B1 uses in current locations 

such as Pera business park, Parkside and 

Phoenix House, in addition to the provision 

above retail in the town centre. The vacant space 

at Pera business park as well as at the Livestock 

market are considered suitable for the provision 

of industrial units to support business growth. 

Other vacant buildings such as the King Street 

site are proposed to be used for commercial, 

retail and leisure uses, creating a complimentary 

offer to the High Street.

To support the enhanced commercial activity, 

additional business support, access to skills, 

technical advice and guidance for promotion, 

marketing and networking are proposed. It 

is also proposed to connect employment 

spaces to educational establishments to foster 

innovation. The link between the Brooksby 

Melton College and the proposed development 

at Pera and the Livestock market through Food 

Enterprise and Food Innovation activities, could 

be strengthened through joint developments.

In addition, there are further employment sites 

allocated in the Local Plan for employment use 

on the edge of the town centre, accessed by 

the MMDR. 

Identified Design Issues

The commercial sites are located on key 

gateway/ arrival points into the town centre 

and can play an important role in improving 

perception and a sense of arrival into the town. 

The use of articulated architectural details, 

landscaping, signage, lighting and public art 

could enhance these locations. 

The town centre has a significantly high 

proportion of heritage buildings that define the 

character of the town centre. It is proposed to 

consider refurbishment of existing buildings 

for commercial uses to contribute towards 

enhancing the setting and attractiveness of the 

town centre.

Connectivity and accessibility of these sites are 

crucial in them being successful commercial 

hubs and attracting high skilled jobs. It is 

proposed to connect the sites via cycle and 

pedestrian paths to the High street to increase 

footfall and access to town centre amenities 

for the employees. Enhanced connections are 

also suggested to connect the employment 

sites to the town centre and residential areas, 

to increase access to jobs for residents and 

access to skilled workforce for business.

Interventions and Projects

Livestock market: Retain and enhance the 

livestock market. Increase commercial and 

retail space for food production units, to provide 

development kitchen facilities for start-up 

businesses. Continue technical support to food 

production sector through Food Enterprise 

Centre project.

Reinforcing commercial and economic activities 
Lifting vitality and drawing people in from surroundings areas

Pera business park: Consider uses that are 

complimentary to the current offer, additional 

commercial space, light industrial units and 

enhanced business support offer.

King Street building: Refurbish the long 

time vacant building to accommodate a food 

production business that can deliver training and 

workshops for visitors.

Phoenix House: Identify and explore 

opportunities for accommodating a mix of 

complimentary uses for the town centre and 

local communities.

Explore development opportunities for sidings 

car park and railway arches, Parkside and Burton 

Street car park.

Enhance connectivity with Nottingham and 

Leicester to improve access to skills and jobs.

Create and promote information for available 

business investment opportunities and 

undertake proactive inward investment activities.

Improve the walking experience between the 

college, Livestock market, Pera and town centre. 

This could be linked to other walking routes 

around the town centre integrating the heritage 

trails and accessing the numerous parks west of 

Wilton Road and Leicester Road Further embrace 

opportunities for food industry start-ups.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

34 35

P
age 42



Assets to Work With

There are a wealth of attractions within the town 

centre- Market Place, High Street, St Mary’s 

Church, Melton Carnegie Museum, Regal 

Cinema, Livestock Market, BMC theatre, Library 

and King Street amongst others. 

Melton Mowbray is well known for its food 

heritage - notably Stilton Cheese and Pork Pies- 

and is a Protected Designation of Origin (PDO) 

for these. 

The town centre supports a well-established 

seasonal cycle of successful calendar of themed 

food festivals.

It is proposed to keep this tradition and history 

alive by reinforcing the markets and enhancing 

their distinct identity. 

Identified Design Issues

Currently the markets are held in Market Place as 

well as at the Stockyard and Live Stock Market 

site. Whilst the local community are aware of the 

difference, there is a risk that for external visitors 

it could cause confusion. A distinct identity 

for the full offer should be created, setting out 

the operations and supporting all locations. 

It is also proposed to implement public realm 

enhancement works to improve physical and 

visual connectivity between the markets.

The arrival experience of Melton Mowbray 

is currently regarded as poor. There is poor 

visibility about town centre attractions while 

walking from the rail station. The coach parking 

and drop off facilities could be improved by 

active frontages of buildings, signage, lighting, 

landscaping and amenities.

Key entry points by car into the town centre 

from all four directions on A607 and A608 

could be enhanced by articulated architecture, 

landscaping, signage and public at works. 

The infrastructure for events is deemed by many 

as poor in all these locations. To enable the town 

to hold large scale events more often around the 

year, it is proposed to improve connections to 

utilities, power, public wi-fi, temporary structures, 

signage and other amenities including car parking 

for the venues.

Within the town centre currently there are 

constraints in terms of the size and availability 

of retail/ leisure units and ownerships. The 

concentration of vacancies is in the Bell Centre. 

The visibility of the High Street needs to be 

improved to increase footfall and attract occupiers. 

Brooksby Melton College is a key contributor to 

the vitality of the town, bringing together cultural 

and education uses. Improving connectivity 

between the College and High Street will 

encourage young people to use the town centre.

The availability of transport and a lack of leisure 

destinations is an issue for the evening economy.

Interventions and Projects

Livestock market: Continue the development of 

the Stockyard into a modern food production and 

events destination. 

BMC College: Enhance the education and 

cultural offer by adding complimentary uses to 

this site.

Bell Centre: Refurbish the site to create a food 

court to accommodate retail space for artisan 

Enhancing visitor experience: culture, heritage, leisure, retail and tourism 
Increasing awareness from surrounding residential and employment areas

food producers and area for consumers to enjoy 

the offer. Consider complimentary uses for the 

upper storeys.

Leisure centres: Retain and enhance leisure 

provision in town to ensure Melton is an attractive 

place to live and work in.

Explore development opportunities for the 

current Argos retail unit, the Mall and surrounding 

area, including Waterfield and the town parks.

Create and enhance infrastructure in the town 

centre to accommodate a range of year round 

events, including the Stockyard and Livestock 

market, Market Place, the High Street, parks and 

open spaces.

Work with transport operators, leisure businesses 

and the BID to explore options to boost the 

evening economy.

Create a central location for an enhanced bus and 

coach parking facility.

Prepare detailed proposals for enhancing the 

areas identified as gateways and key arrival 

points such as the railway station and car parks, 

including signage, landscaping or public art works.

Improve the connectivity, accessibility and 

legibility between key destinations to mutually 

benefit from increased footfall. i.e. improved 

pedestrian crossings, signage, mapping, planting, 

lighting, flags etc.

Ensure the proactive promotion of the area 

through excursions, online promotions, events 

guides, heritage trails, tourism expo and 

networking events.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

36 37

P
age 43



Asset to Work With 

Melton’s public open spaces lend a unique 

character and are an immense benefit to the 

town and its people. They are high quality, 

abundant in amenity uses and rich in quality 

landscape features. They are also very close 

to the town centre and residential areas and 

therefore they have the potential to significantly 

add to the resident and visitor quality of life, 

health and well-being. They are mostly owned 

and managed by the Town Estate, while the 

Country Park is managed by the Council. They 

include waterways in form of rivers, canals and 

ponds, ecologically active areas and a network 

of paths. 

Together they have the potential to connect the 

town centre attractions to surrounding visitor 

destinations, residential areas and employment 

locations to increase footfall and accessibility.

They are much loved assets and consultation 

to date has highlighted the need to enhance 

the spaces for a variety of leisure, events and 

community uses.

Identified Design Issues

The open spaces are currently set out as 

a number of different areas that are poorly 

connected to each other. Due to the position 

of waterways and roads, each open space has 

the characteristic of a cul-de-sac, with many 

dead ends. As a consequence, some areas area 

perceived as unsafe.

Nearly all of the different open spaces have 

an allocated car park, giving the impression of 

prioritising access by car. Pedestrian access is 

limited and the access points for pedestrians 

that do exist, are compromised by crossing busy 

roads such as Leicester Road and Wilton Road. 

Whilst the paths and parks are well-used by the 

community, usage could be improved between 

visitor destinations.

The town parks are equipped to support events 

and tourism however infrastructure to hold larger 

events and festivals should be enhanced.

The Country Park is a great asset but has limited 

connectivity to the core of the town centre and 

other parks. With the development of residential 

areas to the North, the opportunity exists for the 

Country Park to provide access for these new 

residents to walk and cycle through the park to 

the town centre. It also links with the Twinlakes, a 

destination visited by thousands of families each 

year. The Country Park has a key role to play in 

connecting these visitors to the Town Centre, 

increasing footfall, linked visits and contributing 

to the evening economy. 

There are many source references for designing 

and improving the open spaces Melton 

Mowbray, for example, Building for Healthy 

Life (2020), and Open Space Strategies - Best 

practice guidance (CABE 2009). These are 

reinforced by the National Design Guide (2020) 

which states: 

“A well-designed public space that encourages 

social interaction is sited so that it is open 

and accessible to all local communities. It 

is connected into the movement network, 

preferably so that people naturally pass through 

it as they move around…… It is also influenced 

by the versatility and accessibility of its design. 

The uses around its edges reinforce its appeal 

and help make it into a destination”.

Increasing the use of public open spaces and waterways 
Enhancing the delight of an important Melton asset

Interventions and Projects

Explore opportunities for the comprehensive 

development of town parks to enhance 

infrastructure for events, festivals and leisure uses.

Enhance the Country Park to improve connectivity, 

biodiversity and leisure amenities.

Work with Melton in Bloom and other partners 

to prepare planting schemes contributing to the 

RCOF offer for permanent as well as seasonal/ 

event specific enhancements.

Enhance pedestrian and cycle paths connecting 

the town centre to edge of the town employment 

sites, new residential areas, visitor destinations and 

parks and open spaces.

Explore the feasibility of regenerating the 

waterways to increase leisure use and the 

attractiveness of environment.

Link open spaces and public realm within the 

residential areas of the town centre to town parks 

and the Country Park.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

38 39

P
age 44



Section 4   

Proposals  

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

40 41

P
age 45



Development Projects

A range of development projects have been 
identified to enable delivery of the vision. The 
projects are being promoted by a range of 
partners with land and commitment to resources. 
The projects have identified funding gaps and 
delivery could be accelerated by securing funding 
and partner support.  

With a high level of deliverability and strategic fit, and 

given the direct contribution towards the enhancement 

of ‘Rural Capital of Food’ offer, the projects offer the 

potential for the transformation of Melton Mowbray 

town centre.

D1- Library, BMC theatre, catering centre and Wilton 

Road car park: Refurbishment and redevelopment of 

the area to enhance the education and cultural offer by 

adding complimentary uses to the site. Opportunity to 

refurbish and retain the library, theatre, rural catering 

centre (part of the college) and teaching facilities. 

Potential to consider a mix of complimentary uses to 

include managed workspaces, student accommodation,  

 

 

retail and leisure uses, allowing the opportunity for the 

students to showcase their talents and products.

D2- King Street building: Refurbishment of this long-

time vacant building to accommodate new mix of uses 

to bring it back to life and regenerate this important 

part of the town centre. Opportunity to accommodate 

food production businesses with the potential to 

delivery training and workshops for visitors to create 

an experiential offer. Potential to link with similar 

businesses within the High Street, Bell centre and the 

Stockyard for a complimentary offer and enhanced 

visitor experience.

D3- Stockyard and live stock market (Cattle 

Market):  Develop the unoccupied areas of the site to 

enhance infrastructure allowing large scale events and 

festivals all year around. Opportunity to increase  

commercial and production space for food and drink  

production units. Explore the potential to provide 

development kitchen facilities to support businesses to 

experiment, develop and market new products.  

 

 

Continue to provide sector specific business support 

and technical advice to businesses. Connect to the 

High Street and other destination to ensure cross-

promotion of the offer.

D4- Bell Centre, King Street, St Mary’s car park: 

Refurbish the site to create a mixed use development 

that supports the vibrancy and vitality of the High 

Street. Opportunity to create a food court to 

accommodate retail space for artisan food producers 

and area for consumers to enjoy the offer. Explore the 

potential for a boutique hotel, managed work space 

or residential uses on upper storeys. Potential to 

create better connection through the development 

between King Street and High Street.

D5- Pera Business Park: Development of the site for 

uses complimentary to the current offer. Opportunity 

to create additional commercial space, light industrial 

units and enhanced business support offer to support 

business growth. Potential to work with the Stockyard 

to support business innovation and growth.  

 

 

Opportunity to become a hub and destination for 

conference, events, training space for businesses in 

the wider Melton and Leicestershire area.

D6- Phoenix House: Development of this site for 

complimentary uses for the town centre and local 

communities. Opportunity to enhance the setting 

and arrival point to the town centre. Potential link with 

Pera Business Park and the Stockyard for a package 

of business support and promotional activities.

D7- Melton health, leisure and well-being offer 

(Melton Sports Village (MSV) and Waterfield  

leisure centre): Enhance leisure provision, creating  

an attractive place to live and work in. Opportunity to  

work with the Town Estate and health providers for 

a joined up development. Potential to rationalise the 

offer and free up space for accommodating other 

uses. Explore the opportunity to enhance the town 

parks and Country Park, promoting outdoor leisure 

activities for the health and well-being of residents.

D1

D2

D3 D4

D5

D6

D7

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

42 43

P
age 46



Development Opportunities

In addition to the development projects outlined above, additional 
areas have been identified following consultation with the 
stakeholders. Whilst there are no live proposals for development 
in these locations, they also have the potential to strategically 
contribute to the revitalisation of the town centre. 

The map on this page highlights the Development Projects and also the 

Development Opportunities highlighted through consultation

 

Key

Development Projects:  

DP1 - Library, BMC Theatre, Catering Centre and Wilton Road car park

DP2 - King Street building

DP3 - Stockyard and Livestock Market (Cattle Market)

DP4 - Bell Centre, King Street, St Mary’s car park

DP5 - Pera Business Park

DP6 - Phoenix House

DP7 - Melton health, leisure and well-being offer - Melton Sports Village (MSV) 

and Waterfield leisure centre

Development Opportunities:

DO1 - Railway station, sidings car park and railway arches

DO2 - Parkside and Burton Road car park

DO3 - Argos, car park, the Mall and surroundings

DO4 - Waterfield, Town Estate parks and waterways

DO5 - Public realm improvements to residential areas 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

44 45

P
age 47



Transport connectivity projects

Leicestershire County Council (LCC) has commenced 

work on a Transport Strategy for Melton Mowbray. 

It is proposed to work closely with LCC to develop 

proposals that enhance linkages to the town centre 

maximising the benefit of: 

4500 new homes being built around the town

c.15000 new residents

50 ha of employment sites

£600m investment over next 15 years

Hundreds of thousands of visitors to edge of  

town destinations

It is proposed to consider the following projects and 

initiatives to support the development of the Transport 

Strategy and to influence the next phase of development of 

this work:

Work with LCC in delivering this infrastructure to enable 

housing and employment growth in Melton.

Explore feasibility to improve rail connectivity to 

Nottingham via Loughborough to make it easier for 

Melton’s residents to access jobs, skills and education 

in the city and to attract visitors and commuters from 

Nottingham to work and visit Melton.

Undertake a comprehensive assessment of the 

locations and type of available parking, traffic patterns 

created by them and user patterns to determine future 

locations and provision levels.

Create a central location for enhanced bus and  

coach parking facility with links to modes of sustainable 

transport.

Creation and enhancement of pedestrian and cycle 

paths connecting the town centre to edge of the 

town employment sites, new residential areas, visitor 

destinations and parks and open spaces.

Explore potential for infrastructure required for 

alternative transport modes such as cycle parking, 

cycle repair works, showers, e-bikes, e-scooter, electric 

vehicles charging points etc.

Key

Melton Town Centre - see 

separate plan

Cattle Market

Pera and Phoenix House 

-mixed-use business zone

Manufacturing Zones

Melton Country Park

Melton Sports Village 

Waterfield Leisure Centre

Connected pedestrian  

network with easy walking  

to the Town Centre

Twin Lakes Park

New Neighbourhoods 

Connect Neighbourhoods to 

town centre so both benefit

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

46 47

P
age 48



Public realm improvement and highways  
enhancement projects

Prepare proposals for enhancing gateways and key arrival points such 

as the railway station and car parks through architecture, signage, 

landscaping and/or public art works. 

Improve connectivity, accessibility and legibility between key destinations 

to mutually benefit from increased footfall. i.e. improved pedestrian 

crossings, signage, mapping, planting, lighting, flags etc, including: 

•  Cattle market and High Street 

•  Wilton road to High Street and Market place

•  King Street and High Street

Enhance accessibility of the Melton Mowbray railway station

Reinforce the core of the town centre by improving the infrastructure for 

events, markets, street furniture and performance space.

Enhancement of parks and open spaces to support events, leisure and 

community uses.

Promote the use of green infrastructure to link parks, open spaces and key 

destinations.

Prepare an enhanced planting scheme contributing to the RCOF offer for 

permanent as well as seasonal/ event specific enhancements.

Continue to deliver the actions agreed by the partnership to make the town 

centre a safe place to visit, work and live in. 

Ensure on-going maintenance and enhancement of street furniture 

elements such as seating, bins, signage, lighting, railings, planters, cycle 

parking, art installations, digital installations, public wi-fi, removal of graffiti, 

waste collection and other enhancements.

Key

Arrival points

Gateway points

Key links to be enhanced and reinforced

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

48 49

P
age 49



Place Branding, Promotion and Marketing

Melton Mowbray is renowned for annual food 

festivals and events that attract thousands of 

people to the town centre. The markets, festivals 

and events are a key part of Melton’s identity and 

strengthen the offer of ‘Rural Capital of Food’. 

It is proposed to improve infrastructure, signage 

and promotional material at key sites to enhance 

events of regional and national significance, 

ensuring the continuation of existing events and 

appeal to new event providers, developing a larger 

event calendar for the town. 

Promotion of the town centre as a location to live, 

visit and invest, to secure its future sustainability. 

Business, Employment and Skills

The town Centre businesses through 

representatives such as the Business Improvement 

District (BID) have actively engaged in the process 

of preparing the vision. They will also perform an 

active role in delivering it. Retention and growth 

of businesses along with nurturing start-ups and 

attracting inward investment to and within the town 

centre  are at the heart of the vision. 

Availability of suitable premises is a key priority for 

businesses. The development projects proposed 

in the vision document will create a range of 

commercial spaces in the town centre enabling the 

town to secure and attract further investment whilst 

also providing a suite of different sized premises 

that will enable growing businesses to be retained 

in the area. 

By retaining and appealing to new businesses, 

we will be able to offer further employment 

opportunities for residents, in convenient locations 

that also have the benefit of creating new footfall.

Local business growth and inward investment are 

key drivers to economic sustainability in towns such 

as Melton Mowbray and through encouraging this 

we will be able to meet the needs and expectations 

of our existing and future residents and visitors. 

Supporting Activities

Place Management and Community 
Stewardship

Communities are at the heart of this visioning 

exercise. The successful delivery of the vision 

will be dependent on the careful and responsible 

management of place by our communities. It is 

important that local people have influence and 

ownership of the town centre and they feel a sense 

of pride in caring for it.

The co-creation and shared delivery of this 

vision will increase environmental sensitivity, 

environmentally responsible behaviours, 

community attachment, and confidence in 

protecting and enhancing the place.

It is proposed create a programme of community 

champions and ambassadors to enable ownership 

and accountability for the local communities in 

promotion, enhancement and maintenance of the 

town centre.

Sustainability

Economic, environmental and social sustainability 

is a key theme that should run across all projects 

and activities in the action plan. It is envisaged that 

this will be considered at all stages of designing and 

delivering all projects.

The Vision of enhancing the offer of being the 

‘Rural Capital of Food’ will promote the ‘farm to 

fork’ concept promoting local connections to the 

produce, producer, supply chain and consumers. 

The varied nature of projects will help the town 

centre in being a self-sustained location with easy 

access to local amenities and transport connections 

to meet the needs of all residents and visitors. 

Initiatives to increase energy efficiency, improve 

air quality, reduce congestion and pollution and 

enhancing natural environment are proposed to be 

embedded in all developments.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

50 51

P
age 50



DP1: Library, BMC Theatre, catering 
centre and Wilton Road car park 

Existing

Ownership- Brooksby Melton College, Melton 

Borough Council

Key stakeholders- Leicestershire County 

Council, Melton Mowbray Town Estate

Partially vacant buildings with a mix of uses, significant 

investment in recent years by the College. Key 

destination for young people in town centre with 

course linked to food production, catering and 

performance arts. Wilton Road car park is a key arrival 

point and in need of enhancement. 

Proposal

To link innovation, education and cultural 

facilities with the ‘RCOF’ offer in the town centre.

To work jointly with neighbouring land owners to 

maximise the benefits of this key gateway and 

frontage site.

Gateway enhancement for Wilton Road car 

park as a key arrival point by improving signage, 

lighting and facilities.

 

Potential for exploring alternative access 

arrangement to the car park in connection with 

the transport strategy to reduce congestion 

on Wilton Road and improve pedestrian 

connectivity to the High Street.

To work with Melton Mowbray Town Estate 

to link the development with the setting and 

facilities in the Egerton Park.

To enhance the theatre for commercial use, 

increasing evening and night time activities with 

enhanced cultural offer.

To enhance the use of the rural catering centre 

and the ‘shop’ as tools to link education and 

enterprise for food production.

To consider student accommodation to support 

the college operation and help diversify the 

footfall and activities in the town centre.

Strategic Link

Widen the offer of the area to the benefit of the RCOF 

offer, beyond the Theatre. 

Next Steps 

Stakeholders to work jointly to prepare a detailed 

development plan for the wider site area and explore 

investment and funding opportunities.

DP2: King Street Building

Existing 

Ownership- Melton Mowbray Town Estate

Key stakeholders – local businesses

Proposal

The King Street building is owned by the Town 

Estate and has been vacant for a long period of 

time. Whilst the building has presence, it is in poor 

internal and external condition with substandard 

facilities. Access to car parking and the town centre 

location make it a key site for investment.

To explore the benefit of key location on King 

Street, next to the cinema and close to the High 

Street.

To consider options for commercial, retail or 

leisure development, complimentary to the 

town centre offer.

Refurbish the King Street building into a new 

centre to attract SME food related industry into 

the town centre. 

Accommodate SME business formation 

(outlet for locally produced agricultural 

output), experiential kitchens for education 

courses, entrepreneurial experimentation and 

experiential food tourism, development kitchen 

facilities, meetings rooms etc. within the King 

Street building. 

Consider the opportunity to reintroduce 

previous uses such as training, workshops and 

education and link with commercial uses.

To accommodate businesses that create a 

complimentary offer to the High Street and Bell 

centre.

To enhance community facilities and uses along 

with commercial ones. 

Strategic Link

The proposal meets the historic charter and 

objectives for Melton Mowbray Town Estate and 

contributes to the RCOF objectives.  

Next Steps 

Support Town Estate to secure funding  

and occupiers.

Key Projects and Initiatives

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

52 53

P
age 51



DP4: The Bell Centre 

Existing

Ownership- Co-op properties, Melton Borough 

Council

Key stakeholders- local businesses, Business 

Improvement District, Samworth Brothers (Ye 

old pork pie shoppe)

The Bell Centre is a historically underused 

covered retail centre, owned by the Co-op 

providing  a concentration of retail uses and a link 

from the High Street to St Marys Way / Bell Centre 

car parks. It has been acknowledged that the 

Bell Centre needs investment and that its current 

configuration is not suitable for modern retailer 

requirements. 

As a key location on the High Street with good 

access to car parking, close to a cinema and other 

town centre leisure uses, the site has the potential 

for anchor uses to help transform the town centre. 

Proposal

To create space for a distinct food and drink 

experience, unique to Melton Mowbray.

To explore the potential for establishing a food 

court offering retail space for local gourmet food 

producers with seating in the middle for people 

to enjoy the produce.

To explore the potential for a boutique hotel, 

managed workspace or residential uses on 

upper storeys.

To connect with Melton’s prime tourist 

destination ‘Ye old pork pie shoppe’ and open 

frontages at the back to facilitate the production 

of pork pies to be on display.

To create visual and physical connections 

between King Street offer and High Street.

Strategic Link

The redevelopment of the Bell Centre could create 

an enhanced visitor experience in the heart of the 

town centre in conjunction with the Market Place, 

High Street and King Street. Revitalisation of the 

Bell Centre is a key priority for Melton’s Business 

Improvement District.

Next Steps 

To engage with the landowners and key stakeholders 

to create a deliverable plan to attract inward 

investment and public sector funding.

DP3: Stockyard and livestock market 
(Cattle Market) 

Existing

Ownership- Melton Mowbray Town Estate, 

Melton Borough Council

Key stakeholders- Gillstream, occupying 

businesses, traders

Melton’s livestock market is the largest town centre 

livestock market in the country and has been in 

existence for 1,000 years. The market is now the 

most important in the East Midlands and supports 

over 2,500 vendors and 1,500 buyers from Melton, 

the region and beyond. The South side of this site 

is recently rebranded as ‘Stockyard’ and is being 

used for a diverse range of uses including farmers 

market and events, and accommodates food 

production units such as a brewery, a distillery and 

a smoke house.

Proposal

To transform the place into a modern, food & 

drink experience and events destination.

To enhance market identity and character by 

celebrating the rustic nature of the site.

To create a multi-purpose, flexible event space 

for large scale events and festivals.

To put produce and production on display with 

on-site food production and retail units.

To create space for experiments, development 

and innovation to support start-ups and 

business growth.

To create additional commercial units, 

strengthen infrastructure for events and 

promote linked trips, tours and training sessions.

To create participatory space for workshops, 

training and immersive experience.

To connect the producers with production units 

and consumers and to a wider audience.

To enhance accessibility, legibility, sustainability 

quality of the environment.

To connect the development with the wider 

town centre and with other RCOF destinations.

Strategic Link

This site provides the potential to be the “shop-

window” of the ‘Rural Capital for Food’, combining 

tourism, commerce and experience of Melton’s food 

and drink offer.

Next Steps 

Work with partners to implement the masterplan, 

secure funding and continue enhancement of the site.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

54 55

P
age 52



DP6: Phoenix House

Existing

Ownership- Melton Borough Council

Key stakeholders- current occupiers

Situated opposite the Pera Business Park and 

on a key gateway location to the town centre, 

this building is a partially vacant old office block. 

Access to car parking, proximity to a supermarket, 

the town centre and being within 10 minutes 

walking distance from the train station, means that 

this site presents a good opportunity for a high-

quality landmark development.

Proposal

To explore the potential for a range of uses 

suitable to the location and context

Opportunity to improve an arrival into the town 

centre, providing ahigh-quality development

Potential to work with Pera Business Park to 

create a complimentary offer

Any development plans to ensure safeguarding 

of community uses and services.

DP5: Pera Business Park 

Existing

Ownership- Pera

Key stakeholders- occupying businesses

Pera Business Park provides a key commercial 

centre to Melton and it has a strong reputation for 

providing quality employment space. The business 

park is situated on Nottingham Road, a major 

arterial route into the town centre, in a key gateway 

location. There is space available on the site for 

additional growth in employment space.

Proposal

To maximise the available space in existing 

buildings to provide additional commercial 

space.

To consider complimentary uses for available 

vacant space on the site to support the 

commercial uses.

To work with adjacent landowners to explore 

joint opportunities for further industrial and 

commercial uses in response to demand 

analysis.

To create a comprehensive package of 

business support, marketing and networking 

opportunities to support the growth of current 

and new businesses.

To become a hub and destination for 

conference, events, training space for 

businesses in the wider Melton and 

Leicestershire area.

Strategic Link

The site is disconnected from the town centre by the 

A607 and opportunities to enhance linkages should 

be explored, particularly in relation to the proximity 

of the Business Park to the Cattle Market, Phoenix 

House and Snowhill industrial estate which provides a 

key opportunity for cross working.

Next Steps 

To prepare a joint masterplan with neighbouring sites 

to develop a comprehensive commercial offer to 

support business innovation and growth in Melton.

Strategic Link

This site is part of the Council’s Asset Development 

Programme and has the potential to enable 

revitalisation of related developments in Council 

ownership such as Parkside, cattle market and the 

Cove community centre.

Next Steps 

To prepare development options and assess viability 

for future investment.

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

56 57

P
age 53



DP7: Melton health, leisure and well-
being offer (Melton Sports Village 
(MSV) and Waterfields leisure centre)  

Existing

Ownership- Melton Borough Council

Key stakeholders- Melton Mowbray Town 

Estate, Leicestershire County Council, SLM 

leisure operators and users

These two sites are under review following the 

Council’s decision to rationalise and enhance leisure 

provision in Melton. The Waterfield site is constrained 

for growth due to issues such as flooding, topography, 

covenants and limited car parking. The MSV site is 

well situated on the south- west edge of the new 

proposed ring road and well placed to service the new 

communities created by the northern and southern 

urban extensions. Already home to tennis, football 

and rugby clubs, the site can accommodate growth in 

services, increased user numbers and car parking in 

an accessible location.

Proposal

To create a hub for health, leisure and well-being 

activities in one location.

To respond to the needs of the future 

communities, changing trends in leisure sector 

and aspirations of the local residents.

To enhance the provision of leisure services in 

Melton area.

To work with key public sector stakeholders and 

commercial partners to create a viable leisure 

development for future generations.

To future proof provision of community facilities 

in Melton to meet the needs.

To explore opportunities to work with adjacent 

landowners to maximise the benefits of 

development.

Strategic Link

This development is a key priority for Melton Borough 

Council. Work is underway with the help from 

Leicester and Leicestershire Economic Partnership 

(LLEP) funding to prepare a business case for 

investment.

Next Steps 

To conclude the business case and pursue 

implementation.

To work with partners to explore future options 

for Waterfields leisure. 

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

59

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

58

P
age 54



Melton Mowbray has a rich food heritage which has culminated in 

becoming recognised as the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. Melton has a 

strong platform upon which to build a strategy for growth that links 

education and agriculture, community and commerce, farming, food 

and drink, manufacturing and markets. We have built a strong collation 

of public, private and community sector partners who support the 

vision.  We are working with landowners and wider stakeholders to 

create the path for delivery. From the series of conversations and 

consultation we have had over the last few months, we have received 

a range of suggestions, offering solutions to the many challenges the 

town centre is facing today. The contributions from partners have 

been incorporated into an Action Plan. 

The Action Plan will be appended to the Vision document. It will be a live 

document that will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis. The Melton 

Place Board will oversee the delivery of the Action Plan. The projects 

identified are not commitment from the Council or any organisation, 

they are identified as a potential list of activities that can help deliver the 

overarching vision. The Action Plan does not identify any funding sources 

or timescales.

The purpose of the vision and the action plan is to provide strategic backing 

for any future funding and investment opportunities. The success of the 

delivery for the vision relies on a range and category of activities identified 

below, to be delivered in parallel.

Delivery of the Vision    
• Melton Borough Council (MBC)

• Leicestershire County Council (LCC)

• Melton Mowbray Town Estate (MMTE)

• Melton Mowbray Business Improvement District 

(BID)

• Melton Place Board

• Livestock Market and the Stockyard

• SMB College Group with Brooksby and Melton 

Campus

• Pera Business Park

• Local businesses and key employers

• Melton in Bloom (MIB)

• Canal and River Trust

• Melton and Oakham Waterways Society

• Melton Community Safety Partnership

• Melton Carnegie Museum

• University of Nottingham

• Leicester and Leicestershire Economic Partnership 

(LLEP)

• Leicestershire Promotions (LPL)

• Leicester and Leicestershire Place Marketing 

Organisation (PMO)

• Network Rail

• Voluntary and community sector partners

• Tourism operators

• Education and skills providers

• Land owners and developers

• Investors and funders

Key Partners   

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

60 61

P
age 55



Appendix: Action Plan    

Draft Town Centre Vision Delivery Action Plan May 2022 (for consultation)

This Action Plan summarises the projects proposed in the vision document in a structured way. The Action Plan will be appended to 

the Vision document. It will be a live document that will be reviewed and updated on annual basis. The Melton Place Board will oversee 

the delivery of the Action Plan. The projects identified are not a commitment from the Council or any organisation, they are identified 

as a potential list of activities that can help deliver the town centre vision. The purpose of the vision and the Action Plan is to provide 

strategic backing for any future funding and investment opportunities. The success of the delivery for the vision relies on a range of 

categories and associated activities that would be delivered in parallel.

Reference Project Action
Lead 

organisation
Key partners

Development Projects - These projects are being promoted by partners with a level of control over land and commitment to 

resources. All projects have identified a funding gap and the delivery of these can be accelerated by securing funding and partners 

support. With high levels of deliverability, strategic fit and direct contribution towards the enhancement of the ‘Rural Capital of Food’ 

(RCoF)offer, these projects demonstrate greater potential for the transformation of Melton Mowbray town centre.

D1

Library, BMC theatre, 

catering centre and Wilton 

Road car park 

To enhance the education and cultural offer by 

adding complementary uses to this site.
BMC LCC, MBC

D2 King Street building

To refurbish the long time vacant building to 

accommodate a food production business that 

can deliver training and workshops.

MMTE Brockleby Pies

D3
Stockyard and live stock 

market (cattle market)

To enhance infrastructure to accommodate 

large scale events and festivals all year around, 

to increase commercial and retail space for food 

production units, to provide development kitchen 

facilities for start-up businesses.

MBC

Gillstream and 

Stockyard 

businesses

D4
Bell centre, King Street, St 

Mary’s car park

To refurbish the site to create a food court to 

accommodate retail space for artisan food 

producers and an area for consumers to enjoy 

the offer.

Co-Op, MBC, 

BID

Interested 

businesses (Food 

Enterprise network)

D5 Pera Business Park

To enhance the accommodation by adding uses 

complementary to the current offer, additional 

commercial space, light industrial units and 

enhanced business support offer to support 

business growth.

Pera MBC, Gillstream

D6 Phoenix House

To redevelop the site for accommodating 

complementary uses for the town centre and 

local communities.

MBC

Occupying 

businesses and 

organisations

D7

Melton health, leisure and 

well-being offer (Melton 

Sports Village (MSV) and 

Waterfields leisure centre)

To enhance leisure provision in Melton to add to 

Melton’s offer as an attractive place to live and 

work in.

MBC
LCC, MMTE, leisure 

operators

Development Opportunities - Following consultation to date, these projects are identified as opportunity areas. While there are no 

current proposals for development in these locations, there is potential in these sites if developed strategically to contribute positively 

for the enhancement of the town centre. Currently there are no identified resources to undertake the works or implement the activities. 

Dp1
Railway station, sidings car 

park and railway arches

To work with partners to prepare feasibility and 

business cases informed by design, costing, 

business plans and investment propositions.

Network Rail MBC

Dp2
Parkside and Burton road 

car park
MBC

Dp3
Argos, car park, the Mall and 

surroundings
Co-Op BID, MBC

Dp4
Waterfield, Town Estate 

parks and waterways
MBC MMTE

Dp5

Public realm improvements 

in the residential areas to 

enhance the quality of place

MBC LCC

Transport and Connectivity projects - These projects are proposed to be considered by partners to enhance accessibility and 

connectivity in Melton Mowbray. All these projects will require funding and resources for delivery which are yet to be identified.

T1
Melton Mowbray Transport 

strategy

To prepare a transport strategy to mitigate the 

impact of MMDR on the town centre and to 

improve pedestrian connectivity in the centre to 

help increase accessibility and footfall.

LCC MBC

T2

Delivering the Melton 

Mowbray Distributor Road 

(MMDR)

To work with Leicestershire County Council 

(LCC) in delivering this infrastructure to enable 

housing and employment growth in Melton.

LCC

MBC, land owners 

and developers 

of southern and 

Northern urban 

extensions

T3 Nottingham rail connectivity

To improve rail connectivity to Nottingham via 

Loughborough to make it easier for Melton’s 

residents to access jobs, skills and education 

and to attract visitors and commuters from 

Nottingham to work and visit Melton.

MBC LCC

T4
Car parking needs 

assessment

To undertake a comprehensive assessment of 

the locations and type of available parking, traffic 

patterns created by them and user patterns to 

determine future locations and provision levels.

MBC LCC, MMTE

T5 Taxi service reinforcement

To work with taxi operators, leisure businesses 

and BID to explore options to support taxi trade 

to boost both evening and night time economy in 

Melton.

MBC
BID, taxi operators 

and businesses

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

62 63

P
age 56



T6
Enhancement of 

Waterways and towpaths

To explore feasibility of regenerating waterways 

to increase leisure use and attractiveness of 

environment.

Canal and 

river trust, 

Melton and 

Oakham 

Waterways 

Society, 

MMTE

MBC, LCC, Severn 

Trent

Transport Opportunities- These projects are put forward by residents and stakeholders to be considered and delivered as 

part of the town centre enhancement works. Delivery route is yet to be agreed with partners. Potential consideration for 

inclusion in transport strategy. Currently there are no identified resources to undertake the works or implement the activities. 

Ts1 Railway station accessibility 
To enhance accessibility of the Melton Mowbray 

railway station

Network 

Rail, East 

Midlands 

Railway

DFT, LCC, MBC

Ts2 Mobility hub

To create a central location for enhanced bus 

and coach parking facility with links to modes of 

sustainable transport

LCC MBC

Ts3
Community transport 

solutions

To consider options for community transport 

solutions for residents in the town centre
LCC MBC

Ts4

Sustainable transport 

connectivity to increase 

footfall

Creation and enhancement of pedestrian and 

cycle paths connecting the town centre to edge 

of the town employment sites, new residential 

areas, visitor destinations and parks and open 

spaces

LCC MBC

Ts5

Enabling infrastructure 

for sustainable transport 

solutions

To explore potential for infrastructure required 

for alternative transport modes such as cycle 

parking, cycle repair works, showers, e-bikes, 

e-scooter, electric vehicles charging points etc.

MBC, LCC, 

businesses

BT chargemaster, 

Midlands Energy 

Hub

Public realm enhancement - These projects are to be considered as part of public realm enhancement works that may 

require preparation of a public realm strategy for a wider strategic consideration and oversight. It could include Melton 

specific design guidance in conjunction with the transport strategy for the town centre. Place Board to provide steer 

for delivery. While some of these activities are being considered by the partners, there is identified gap in resources for 

delivering these tasks.

PR1 Gateway enhancements

To prepare proposals for enhancing key locations 

identified as gateways and  for improvement 

of key arrival points such as railway station and 

car parks by enhanced architecture, signage, 

wayfinding, articulated landscaping or public art 

works. 

MBC, LCC MIB, MMTE, BID

PR2
Market Place and High 

Street enhancement

To reinforce the core of the town centre by 

improving infrastructure for events, markets, 

street furniture and performance space.

MBC, MMTE, 

LCC
BID

PR3
Connectivity between High 

Street and key destinations

To improve connectivity, accessibility and 

legibility between key destinations to mutually 

benefit from increased footfall. i.e. improved 

pedestrian crossing, signage, mapping, planting, 

lighting, flags etc. 

- Cattle market and high street  

- Wilton road to High Street and Market 

place 

- King Street and High Street

MBC, LCC
Stockyard, BID, 

MMTE

PR4

Enhancement of parks 

and open spaces as leisure 

destinations

To prepare and implement projects for 

enhancement of parks and open spaces for a 

range of age groups.

MMTE MBC, BID

PR5

Maintenance and 

enhancement of street 

scene in town centre

To ensure on-going maintenance and 

enhancement of street furniture elements 

such as seating, bins, signage, lighting, railings, 

planters, cycle parking etc, art installations, digital 

installations, public wi-fi, removal of graffiti, waste 

collection etc.

MBC, MMTE, 

LCC
BID

PR6 Planting in the town centre

To prepare an enhanced planting scheme 

contributing to the RCoF offer for permanent as 

well as seasonal/ event specific enhancements.

MIB, MMTE

MBC, BID,  Melton 

Lions and other 

voluntary sector 

partners

PR7 Community safety

To continue to deliver the actions agreed by the 

partnership to make the town centre a safe place 

to visit, work and live in. 

Community 

safety 

partnership

All partners

Heritage enhancement - These activities are an integral part of all development and promotional activities. 

H1 Shopfront Improvement

To prepare guidance for improving shopfronts to 

enhance the heritage and architectural setting of 

the town centre.

MBC, BID

Owners and 

occupiers of heritage 

buildings

H2
Enhancement of heritage 

buildings

To identify complementary uses for vacant or 

underused heritage buildings to preserve, protect 

and enhance the assets and to ensure continuity 

of uses to meet the needs of communities today.

Owners and 

occupiers 

of heritage 

buildings

MBC

H3
Increase awareness and 

promotion of heritage

To identify and promote themed heritage trails 

(such as Royal Melton), open days, digital 

interpretations and signage of heritage assets, 

practices and associations. 

MBC, BID
Melton Carnegie 

Museum, LCC

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

64 65

P
age 57



Events, markets and tourism - These activities are critical for achieving the vision of being the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. 

Some of the works is underway. A detailed programme of activities to be prepared and overseen by the Place Board. 

While some of these activities are being considered by the partners, there is identified gap in resources for delivering 

these tasks.

E1 Events programme

To prepare and maintain a round the year 

programme of events in the town centre and 

co-ordinate all planned events in form of the 

publication of an annual events guide.

BID All event organisers

E2
Infrastructure for large scale 

events

To create and enhance infrastructure in the town 

centre for accommodating a range of scale 

and variety of events through the whole year, 

including: 

- Stockyard and Live stock market 

(cattle market) 

- Market Place and High Street 

- Parks and Open spaces

MBC, MMTE, 

Gillstream

 BID, events 

organisers

E3

Regulatory actions- H&S, 

environmental health, traffic 

orders 

To ensure all events are delivered in a safe and 

compliant way.

MBC, LCC 

and BID
All event organisers

E4 Enhancement of markets

To enhance and diversify the offer of markets in 

Melton by creating distinct and complimentary 

focus, attractive setting and joint promotional 

activities to contribute to the RCoF offer.

MMTE, 

Gillstream
BID, MBC

E5
Cross promotion of town 

centre offer

Meet and greet, excursions, demonstrations, 

leaflets, signage, online promotion, joint offers etc.

LPL, BID, 

MBC
All  destinations

Place branding, promotion and marketing - These activities are critical for the promotion of the vision of being the ‘Rural Capital of 

Food’. Some of the works are underway. A detailed programme of activities is to be prepared and overseen by the Place Board. While 

some of these activities are being considered by the partners, there is an identified gap in resources for delivering these tasks. These 

activities are critical for achieving the vision of being the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. 

M1 Discover Melton website
To continue to develop and enhance the website 

to keep it relevant and effective.
MBC

all businesses, event 

organisers and PMO

M2 Social media handles
To continue the use of social media for promotion 

of the RCoF offer to a wider audience.
BID, MBC

BID and all 

promoters

M3
Uncover the Story 

campaign

To deliver the campaign as agreed by the 

Tourism Advisory Group (TAG).
PMO

MBC, BID and all 

businesses

M4 Inward investment activities
To create and promote information for available 

business investment opportunities.
MBC PMO

M5
Tourism expo and network 

events

To provide platforms for tourism operators 

and destinations to connect and enable cross 

promotion.

PMO, LPL MBC, BID

Business, employment and skills - These activities are critical for sustainability of the vision of being the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. Some 

of the works are underway. A detailed programme of activities to be prepared and overseen by the Place Board. While some of these 

activities are being considered by the partners, there is an identified gap in resources for delivering these tasks. 

B1 Business support advice

To create an enhanced business support offer for 

businesses in the town centre for business start-

ups, and growth.

Pera MBC, LLEP, BEIS

B2 Business network 
To provide opportunities and platforms for 

business to business networks.
BID, Pera MBC, Pera

B3 Business funding
To continue sign posting businesses to available 

funding opportunities and advice.

MBC, BID, 

Pera
LLEP, BEIS

B4 Sector specific support

To continue delivering the sector specific support 

for food production businesses through the Food 

Enterprise Centre (FEC) project. To explore 

opportunities for similar support for other industry 

sectors based on assessing the demand. 

MBC
LLEP, BID, Pera, 

Stockyard

B5 Skills development To deliver the skills strategy by LLEP. LCC , BMC MBC, MML, LLEP

B6
Access to skills and skilled 

workforce

To improve and enhance access to skills by 

considering transport solutions, digital delivery 

and person specific approaches. To work 

with businesses and skill providers to explore 

solutions for matching the demand and supply.

MBC, BMC, 

LLEP

LCC, skills and 

education providers, 

businesses

Place  management and community stewardship - These activities are critical for the success of the delivery of this action plan and 

the vision for being the ‘Rural Capital of Food’. 

C1 Community champions

To create a programme of enabling ownership 

and accountability for the local communities 

for place enhancement, promotion and 

maintenance in order to increase a sense of pride 

and belonging.

Place Board 

partners

BID, voluntary sector 

organisations, 

schools, businesses

C2 Environmental enforcement

To provide proactive enforcement of law and 

order, licencing, environmental regulations, health 

and safety, planning etc to ensure the town centre 

is a safe and pleasant environment for all to enjoy.

MBC, BID, 

MMTE, 

Police, LCC

All businesses and 

residents

Sustainability - Economic, environmental and social sustainability is a key theme that runs across all projects and activities within this 

action plan. It is envisaged that this will be considered at all stages of design and delivery of all projects. 

S1 Increasing energy efficiency
To explore ways to increase energy efficiency in 

all development projects
All partners

S2
Implementing sustainable 

transport solutions
Same as Ts5

S3 Improving air quality
To reduce the use of car in order to reduce traffic, 

pollution, noise and carbon emissions.
All partners

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

66 67

P
age 58



S4
--Enhancing green 

infrastructure

To enhance public open spaces, parks, 

waterways, footpaths, cycleways to maximise 

their use, reduce carbon emissions and improve 

health and well-being of residents.

MMTE, MBC, 

MIB
BID, all partners

Governance and Monitoring - Melton Place Board will be responsible for overseeing and steering the delivery of this action plan. The 

following tasks need to be undertaken by partners as part of the next phase of delivering the town centre vision.

G1 Develop detailed project proposals All partners

G2 Identify resources All partners

G3 Propose timescales All partners

G4 Agree outcomes and outputs All partners

G5 Devise a monitoring mechanism
Melton Place 

Board

A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE A VISION FOR MELTON MOWBRAY TOWN CENTRE

68 69

P
age 59



Page 60



 

 

Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 June 2022 

Report of: Councillor Rob Bindloss - Portfolio 
Holder for Growth and Prosperity 

       

  
  

 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

Corporate Priority: Delivering sustainable and inclusive growth in Melton 

Relevant Ward Member(s): All 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/a 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: Yes 

Subject to call-in: Yes 

1 Summary 

1.1 The UK Government has launched the second round of the £4.8bn Levelling Up 

Fund, inviting applications for funding from Local Government bodies by midday on 6 July 

2022. 

1.2 The purpose of this report is to summarise the key projects for which funding is sought, 

and to seek approval to submit a bid prior to the deadline.  

1.3 This report outlines the Council’s approach to work jointly with the partners and prepare 

the information that maximises the chances of a successful bid.  

 

2 Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

 

2.1 Notes the criteria and requirements for submitting a Levelling Up Fund bid. 

2.2 Approves the submission of a joint bid with Rutland County Council to maximise 
the chances of success; noting the shared emphasis on innovation and 
regenerating rural market towns. 

2.3 Notes that Melton’s intended bid submission contains three town centre projects, 
one overseen by the Council, to develop the Stockyard at the Cattle Market, and 
two other town centre projects due to be delivered by partner agencies.  

Page 61

Agenda Item 6

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

2 

 

2.4 Approves incorporation of all three projects within the bid submission, subject to 
them demonstrating they meet all requirements and maintain comparable 
confidence of delivery.  

2.5 Delegates Authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Growth and Prosperity, to finalise the configuration of the bid, ensuring 
the strongest possible submission. Where individual projects do not meet the 
requirements set out in 2.4, to remove them from the submission.  

2.6 Notes that should the Levelling Up Fund bid be successful, the Council will be 
required to include match funding of up to c. £1m which will need to either be met 
through capital receipts or borrowing. Confirmation of this funding will be 
through a subsequent decision and consideration of more detailed business 
case(s) setting out the financial and other implications.  

2.7 Delegates Authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Growth and Prosperity to agree, with Rutland Council, who the 
accountable body on behalf of both councils will be. Notes that appropriate joint 
governance, resource requirements and legal agreements will be developed to 
support this arrangement. 

3 Reason for Recommendations 

3.1 Priority 3 of the Council’s Corporate Strategy 2020-24 ‘Delivering sustainable and 

inclusive growth in Melton’ identifies the following priority focus areas: 

• Work with our partners to promote Melton and deliver the promise of the ‘Rural Capital 
of Food’. 

• Regenerate our town centre, encourage inward investment and create jobs. 

• Deliver inclusive growth by improving access to higher paid jobs, improving skills and 
tackling low wage economy. 

3.2 Melton Mowbray town centre is the engine of the borough’s economy and a key visitor 

destination. The Council has recently worked with the partners to create a long-term vision 

to steer the development of the town centre over the next ten years. The Levelling Up 

Fund bid supports the aspirations set out in the town centre vision, being considered 

within a separate report on this Cabinet agenda. 

3.3 The Government has recently published the Levelling Up White Paper and the Levelling 

Up and Regeneration Bill. The announcement of the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Round 2 

presents a good opportunity to seek funding to deliver some of the key priority projects 

that would contribute towards achieving the vision. 

 

4 Background 

4.1 The Levelling Up Fund (Round 2) was announced in the spending review in March 2022 

for investment in genuine local priorities, and capital projects prepared in collaboration 

with local stakeholders that can be delivered in the next 2 to 3 years.  

4.2 Melton had submitted a bid for £9.7m for Round 1 that was unsuccessful. The bid included 

a package of three complementary projects contributing towards enhancing the ‘Rural 

Capital of Food’ offer and creating destinations for a wide range of audiences to visit.  

4.3 The Council has continued to work with partners to develop and refine the town centre 

regeneration projects and has utilised the positive and constructive feedback from the first 

Page 62



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

3 

 

round bid, received from the Government Department for Business Energy and Industrial 

Strategy (BEIS), to help shape the second round submission 

4.4 Alongside this the Council is in the process of adopting a refreshed Town Centre vision 

which will underpin the LUF bid. 

4.5 Recognising that the MP for Rutland and Melton is only able to provide formal support to 

one bid within her constituency, the Council has worked closely with Rutland County 

Council to ensure a joint bid can be submitted with a strong, unified focus on the 

sustainability and innovation of our rural market towns. 

4.6 The deadline for the submission of the Round 2 bid is 6th July 2022. 

 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 Criteria for Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Round 2 

5.1.1 The Levelling Up Fund Round 2 focuses on three key investment themes, similar to 

Round 1: 

• Regeneration and town centre investment - to upgrade eyesore buildings and dated 
infrastructure; acquire and regenerate brownfield sites; invest in secure community 
infrastructure and crime reduction; and bring public services and safe, accessible 
community spaces into town and city centres. 

• Cultural investment - maintaining, regenerating, or creatively repurposing existing 
cultural, creative, heritage and sporting assets, or creating new assets that serve those 
purposes including theatres, museums, galleries, production facilities, libraries, visitor 
attractions (and associated green spaces), sports and athletics facilities, heritage 
buildings and sites, and assets that support the visitor economy. 

• Transport investments - public transport, active travel, bridge repairs, bus priority, local 
road improvements and major structural maintenance, and accessibility improvements.  

5.1.2 The funding is provided through a competitive process and will be targeted towards places 

that are most in need of the type of investment support, as measured by an Index of 

Priority Places that takes into account the following place characteristics: 

• need for economic recovery and growth 

• need for improved transport connectivity and 

• need for regeneration 

5.1.3 Both Melton and Rutland Council areas are identified as Category 2 locations and 

therefore not eligible to receive the £125,000 of capacity funding available to category 1 

locations, and which would help to support the preparation and submission of high-quality 

bids for this round of the Fund.  

5.1.4 Members of Parliament (MPs) will have a formal role in the bidding process to reflect their 

valuable local perspective. All MPs can provide formal priority support to one bid within 

their constituency area.  

5.1.5 In addition to the MP, applicants are encouraged to consult a range of local stakeholders 

across the full geography of a place in developing their proposed investments for the 

Fund. 

Page 63



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

4 

 

5.1.6 Bids can be for an individual project or a package of up to three projects. Local Authorities 

can collaborate through a joint bid for a maximum of £20m, or up to a maximum of £50m 

for transport related schemes. 

5.1.7 The Government will be seeking match funding representing at least 10% of total scheme 

costs. Also, a private sector contribution if they stand to benefit from a specific project. 

5.1.8 There will be a three staged approach to assessment and decision-making process: 

• Stage 1 Gateway: Bids that fail the gateway criteria will not be assessed and will not be 
eligible to be considered for funding. 

• Stage 2 Assessment and short-listing: Bids that progress from the gateway stage will 
be assessed on each of the criteria set out in the assessment framework - 
characteristics of places, deliverability, strategic fit with local and Fund priorities, and 
the economic case in line with the published assessment framework. 

• Stage 3 Decision making: Once bids have been assessed and moderated, and the 
shortlist is drawn up, Ministers will make funding decisions. 

5.1.9 Bids must also be able to demonstrate spend from the Fund in the 2022-23 financial year. 

5.1.10 The fund is for capital investment only. 

5.2 Approach to submission of Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Round 2 bid 

5.2.1 MPs are only able to formally support one bid per constituency area and therefore Melton 

Borough Council and Rutland County Council have been working together to submit a joint 

bid that can be formally supported by the MP for Melton and Rutland.  

5.2.2 All partners who put forward their projects for Round 1 have confirmed their willingness to 

incorporate their projects within the Round 2 bid. It is acknowledged that all projects 

proposed in the previous bid have progressed and some of the previously incorporated 

activities have now been delivered. The Council continues to work with the partners to 

assess the progress made so far and amend the proposals to meet the criteria for Round 

2. Whilst it is hoped all projects can proceed into the final bid, the report includes a request 

for a delegation to remove one or more projects if they fail to meet the required criteria or 

standard. 

5.2.3 While Melton’s bid for Round 1 LUF was unsuccessful, the Council received some positive 

and constructive feedback from the BEIS. This information has been used in preparing the 

Round 2 bid. 

5.2.4 A draft Vision for Melton Mowbray Town Centre has been prepared by working closely 

with a range of stakeholders in the town. This vision document has gone through 

extensive consultation with stakeholders, residents, businesses and community and 

voluntary sector organisations. The refreshed Vision underpins the projects included within 

the LuF bid and is due for consideration by Cabinet within the same meeting agenda. 

5.2.5 An Equalities Impact Assessment is being undertaken for the LUF submission and will be 

completed prior to approval of the final submission to ensure any impacts from the project 

are understood and mitigated.  

5.3 Lead Authority and ongoing Monitoring  

5.3.1 The bid will require a lead partner to formally submit the bid on behalf of all partners. 

Conversations are ongoing as to whether this will be Melton or Rutland Councils.   

Page 64



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

5 

 

5.3.2 If successful, and MBC is the formal lead, the Council will be the accountable body for 

receiving the funds. This means the Council will play a lead role in programme 

management for the projects being delivered with the funding and will co-ordinate 

activities on behalf of the partners such as monitoring of benefits, reporting to the 

Government and adhering to subsidy advice. In this instance relevant legal agreements 

will be agreed with the partners in the bid before the money is handed out to ensure they 

retain responsibility for their proportion of the bid and adhere to the terms of any 

agreements set out by government.  

5.3.3 Should Rutland County Council act as the lead partner it is anticipated they will require 

Melton Borough Council to enter into an agreement to pass on these responsibilities to us. 

This report provides an appropriate delegate confirm the arrangements and establish the 

shared governance processes necessary. 

5.4 Joint narrative for the Melton and Rutland LUF Round 2 bid 

5.4.1 Work is ongoing with Rutland County Council to prepare the joint narrative and application 

for the combined bid. This work includes developing a joint evidence base, and construct 

the ‘theory of change’.  

5.4.2 Alongside this work has also been commissioned to undertake Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR),  

Value for Money (VFM) and gap analysis calculations to provide subsidy control advice 

that will all be required to write a coherent bid that pulls together projects from both local 

authority areas in a comprehensive way. 

5.4.3 The bid will make the argument for Levelling Up through harnessing the potential of 

market towns, using innovation as the driver by building on existing key strengths/sectors 

and adding value to them. This involves building on place character with Melton focussing 

on food and related experiences and Oakham focussing on health. Growing skills and 

enterprise in these sectors are the key to achieving long term sustainable outcomes for 

both areas.  

5.4.4 To consolidate the wider attractiveness of the two towns at the heart of the bid we are 

exploring a cultural component which would digitise and widen participation in the heritage 

offer around the Ichthyosaur and Roman mosaic in Rutland and the College based theatre 

in Melton to enhance this space and attract commercial shows to develop a larger pull to 

support the night-time and evening economy. 

5.4.5 The bid also has a component which delivers a demand responsive transport service 

enabling people to access work, learning and services more fully across the two market 

towns and their wider hinterlands. This will maximise the joint benefits of the proposals for 

everyone in the two geographies.  

5.5 Melton proposal 

5.5.1 More specifically, Melton’s proposals within the joint bid, focus on delivering the vision for 

the town centre, to strengthen its position as the ‘Rural Capital of Food’ and to maximise 

the potential of Melton Mowbray as a rural market town. To achieve this vision, it is 

proposed to develop a connected network of ‘Centres for Excellence’ connected by the 

High Street.  

5.5.2 The three activities currently being considered for incorporation within the LUF bid are set 

out below.  

 

 

Page 65



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

6 

 

5.6 The Stockyard project 

5.6.1 Out of the three proposed activities, the Council will be responsible directly for delivering 

the works on the Stockyard (south cattle market site). The recently launched Stockyard 

concept, once delivered, will create a multifunctional space that will directly support the 

food production and tourism sectors in the Melton area and further afield. This will 

primarily be achieved by providing easy to access and easy to use space for a multitude of 

different activities but focussing around high quality spaces for events and food and drink 

production. This will support the development of a hub of business excellence focussed on 

food production and experiences as well as on-site support services, building upon the 

work done to date, which has already facilitate three existing producers to locate onto the 

site.  

5.6.2 To support the bid a detailed masterplan is being developed for the entire south side of the 

cattle market (the Stockyard). If fully implemented this would have a total delivery value of 

approximately £12m.  

5.6.3 Given the constraints on the total funding which can be bid for through Melton’s £10m 

share of the joint LUF bid, a phased approach is required. The first phase of investment 

and delivery on the site would therefore represent a cost of approximately £7.5m, and 

having considered the potential match fund required from the Council and partners, a 

round 2 LUF bid of c. £6.5m would be submitted to meet the funding gap. These figures 

are continuing to be updated and will be finalised in accordance with the delegated 

authority secured through recommendation 2.5 above. 

5.6.4 The first phase of investment at the Stockyard will focus on improving some of the public 

realm and access at key gateways to the site, enhancements to the main square/ car 

parking area to enable it to be used more efficiently for events and attract new events to 

the area as well as providing more production floorspace. Concept designs of the initial 

proposals are available at appendix A. Latter phases will focus on enhancing existing 

public realm in the wider stockyard area as well as refurbishment/refit of the covered 

market units as well as additional works to the banqueting suite and adjacent hall.  

5.7 Partner Bids 

5.7.1 The second project with Melton’s bid seeks to support development of the SMB college 

group (formerly Brooksby Melton College) Site on Wilton Road/Asfordby Road for 

refurbishment and upgrade of the theatre to create a cultural destination in the town centre 

to bring more people into the town and support the wider evening economy. 

5.7.2 The third project within Melton’s bid seeks to support development of the former training 

centre site on King Street, currently owned by Melton Mowbray Town Estate, which is 

currently one of the main long-term vacant and rundown buildings in the centre. To focus 

on refurbishing and converting the facility into food production, training and workshop 

facility that will be occupied by Brockleby’s Pies as their main base for operation  

5.7.3 The total combined cost of these two partner activities identified in the Melton Portion of 

the bid is subject to further refinement but currently stands at £3.3m. The ask from the 

Government for these two activities would be approximately £2.5m. The rest of the funding 

would be sourced from the private and public sector partners involved.  

5.7.4 Key partners in this bid are Melton Borough Council, SMB College Group (town centre 

campus), Gillstream (Livestock market and the Stockyard) and Brockleby’s Pies. 

 

Page 66



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

7 

 

5.8 Finalisation of Melton’s part of the joint bid 

5.8.1 These three projects being considered have been selected based on the positive impact 

they will bring to the town and their readiness to be delivered alongside the work 

undertaken by their respective owners and developers to get the projects to be ready for 

implementation, subject to receiving funding. 

5.8.2 It must though be acknowledged that there have been some fundamental changes to the 

approach taken by the partner organisations from the original submission that could 

impact their deliverability and affordability in the context of the Council’s half of the wider 

LUF bid.  

5.8.3 Work continues with the two partners in relation to the preparation of their bids to ensure 

they have the best opportunity to be finalised and incorporated into the final submission. 

Officers will, however, continue to monitor developments closely and should any of the 

bids fail to meet the required criteria or standard, they will be removed from the final 

submission to ensure only the strongest proposition goes forward, utilising the delegation 

set out in recommendation 2.5. Were any of the partner bids removed, the council would 

re-evaluate the level of the bid submitted for the Stockyard site to ensure the maximum 

allocation available is applied for, whilst still demonstrating the required impact. 

5.9 Match Funding requirement 

5.9.1 In accordance with the fund criteria, at least 10% match funding needs to be identified. 

This means the assumed match funding requirement would be up to c. £1m. This could be 

met either through the utilisation of capital receipts or through borrowing. It should be 

noted that the North cattle market site is currently on the market for disposal and that the 

receipt generated from this site could be utilised to support this funding requirement.  

5.9.2 In principle support to making this allocation is requested through this Cabinet report. The 

final decision to allocate funding in the capital programme, and confirm the funding source, 

will not be required until the outcome of the funding bid is confirmed and a final business 

case is formally considered.   

 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 Do not apply for the LUF Round 2 

This option is not recommended for the reasons identified in section 3 of this report and 

the need to secure funding to deliver the aspirations set out in the Town Centre Vision. 

6.2 Submit a unilateral bid, not jointly with Rutland County Council 

This option is not recommended as formal support from the MP is a critical part of the bid 

submission and to pursue a unilateral bid would place Melton’s proposal in competition 

with Rutland and there would be a risk the MP may be unwilling or unable to support a 

unilateral bid.  It is also considered desirable that a joint bid would be stronger, focussing 

on the broader needs of rural market towns.  

 

7 Consultation 

7.1 Significant consultation has been undertaken in relation to the town centre vision which 

underpins the LUF bid. Consultation on the vision includes: 

Page 67



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

8 

 

a) Public consultation to inform vision development for the town and identify key projects 

for delivery 

b) Consultation with the Scrutiny Committee 

c) 2 workshops with partners to discuss key priorities for the town 

d) 2 UKSPF workshops that discussed priorities and themes relating to town centre 

development, tourism and developing pride in place 

e) Series of engagement in developing the Melton Destination management plan which 

all point towards delivering upon our rural capital of food ‘offer’ 

7.2 Both direct and indirect consultation with partners and stakeholders regarding the bid has 

been supportive of the submission. There is wide ranging support for projects that look to 

support or that lead to generation of additional footfall into the town and enhance visitor 

numbers and experience. Consultees have also been supportive of projects that look to 

supporting business growth and entrepreneurialism in the area, especially if it helps build 

upon our rural capital of food offer. 

7.3 Requests for letters of support have been sent to all partners. These will be added to the 

evidence for support of the bid upon submission. 

 

8 Next steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 Following the Cabinet decision, officers will continue to work with partners to finalise the 3 

Melton projects for submission. Prior to submission officers will evaluate the strength of 

each of the three components of the bid against the assessment criteria. Where any of the 

projects are unable to meet the criteria or deliverability requirements, officers will, in 

consultation with the portfolio holder for Growth and Prosperity, remove those projects 

from the final submission, ensuring only the strongest elements go forward. 

8.2 Submission of the bid – 6th July 2022 

8.3 Government announcement for funding – Autumn 2022  

 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 There will be a requirement for a minimum of 10% of the total capital ask to be matched by 

Melton Borough Council up to an expected level of c. £1m 

9.2 This match could be provided by either utilisation of capital receipts or borrowing. A 

decision on this would come later, alongside a financial assessment at the time. It should 

be noted that anticipated sale from the Northern cattle market car park site could provide 

an appropriate capital receipt subject to completion. The financial implications will need to 

be assessed as part of the detailed business case/s that will be developed for the projects 

included within the bid. Formal approval for the funding in line with these business cases 

will then be sought in line with the appropriate governance process. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

 

 

 

Page 68



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

9 

 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 Section 1 of the localism act 2011 gives the council the power to do anything that 

individuals may generally do and section 111 of the local government act 1972 gives a 

local authority power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or 

incidental to, the discharge of any of its functions.  

10.2 If successful, the council will be required to enter into a grant agreement which will detail 

the expectations between the council and DLUHC for the use of the funding. 

10.3 The council must use the funding in line with its proposal.  The council will be expected to 

provide evidence to demonstrate how the funding has been spent along with complying 

with the monitoring and assurances process set out in the MOU.  

10.4 Legal services should be consulted at the earliest opportunity to review any funding 

agreement relating to the levelling up fund round 2 to ensure that any obligations and in 

particular clawback provisions are passed down to third party recipients when 

administering grant funding.  

10.5 If successful, works, goods and services must be procured in accordance with the 

Council’s contract procedure rules. 

10.6 Subsidy control advice has been sought to ensure the aspects of this bid are compliant 

with recent subsidy control guidelines. All relevant internal processes are being followed in 

terms of governance. 

10.7 Should the bid be successful the Legal team will be engaged to ensure we are happy with 

any conditions placed upon the grant and ensure we are able to minimise any risk incurred 

depending on the considerations identified in 5.2.7 & 5.2.8 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Monitoring Officer 

 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 An equalities impact assessment is undertaken for the Draft Vision for Melton Mowbray 

Town Centre. An EIA will also be completed for the LUF bid prior to finalisation and 

approval of the final submission.  

11.2 Should the overall bid be successful individual EIA’s would be undertaken for each of the 

projects during the preparatory phase. 

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 The government recognises that reducing crime and delivering safe and secure towns and 

cities where people want to live, work and visit is essential to our levelling up mission. The 

draft vision for Melton Mowbray town centre and the action plan proposes activities to 

address community safety issues. Each individual activity includes proposals for improving 

safety and security of the proposed locations. 

 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1 The Government’s net zero and wider environmental ambitions will represent a key part of 

the criteria for assessment. Projects proposed in Melton and Rutland bid support net zero 

Page 69



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

10 

 

goals, including those set out in the UK government’s net zero strategy and sector-specific 

plans such as the Heat and Buildings Strategy where relevant. 

 

14 Other Implications (where significant) 

14.1 If successful, the proposals contained in the bid will be subject to planning approvals. 

 

15 Risk & Mitigation 

 

Risk 
No 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk 

1 MBC being the lead partner on behalf of 
partners for the bid. This will require MBC to 
take responsibility for all conditions as per 
the grant agreement and be ultimately 
accountable for and requirements relating to 
reporting, monitoring and evaluating on 
behalf of all partners. 

Low Marginal Low Risk 

2 Partner projects not being ready or up to the 
standard required by government by the 
date of submission.  

Low Critical Medium Risk 

3 Difficulty securing capital match for MBC 
project that is affordable. 

Low Critical Medium Risk 

 

  Impact / Consequences 

  Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Score/ definition 1 2 3 4 

6 Very High 
    

5 High 
    

4 Significant 

    

3 Low 
 1 2,3  

2 Very Low 
    

1 Almost 
impossible     

 

 

Page 70



Cabinet Report 

Approval to submit a Levelling Up Funding bid 

11 

 

Risk No Mitigation 

1 Relevant terms would be agreed with partners to ensure responsibility for 
reporting and risk attached to lead partner role is shared 

2 Conversations with partners are ongoing and clear timescales for delivery have 
been provided. Before final submission officers will determine suitability of the 
included activities and should any reduce the likelihood of bid success, they are 
able to be removed 

3 Numerous options have been considered to secure our proportion of match 
funding towards this fund that range from borrowing to ring fencing any capital 
receipts from sale of assets to contribute towards this project. These options will 
continue to be explored and be submitted as part of the bid once agreed. 

 

16 Background Papers 

16.1 Consultation Draft - A Vision for Melton Mowbray Town Centre 

 

17 Appendices 

17.1 Appendix A - Southern Cattle Market – concept designs visual 

 

Report Author: Pranali Parikh, Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 504321 

PParikh@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Pranali Parikh, Director for Growth and 
Regeneration 

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504321 

PParikh@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Melton Mowbray Stockyard Market
Concept Design Presentation 27. May 2022

P
age 73

A
ppendix



Melton Mowbray Stockyard Market
Concept Design Presentation 27. May 2022

P
age 74



Melton Mowbray Stockyard Market
Concept Design Presentation 27. May 2022

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cabinet Report 

Annual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

1 

 

 

Cabinet 
16 June 2022 

Report of: Leader of the Council 

       

  
  

 

Biannual Ombudsman Update  

Corporate Priority: Service excellence in all we do and ensuring the 
right conditions to support delivery 

Relevant Ward Member(s): N/A 

Date of consultation with Ward 
Member(s): 

N/A 

Exempt Information: No 

Key Decision: No 

Subject to call-in: No 

Not key decision 

1 Summary 

1.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) Ombudsman submits an 

annual report to the Council on all complaints they have received. 

1.2 This report provides the Cabinet with an update on the outcomes of complaints submitted 

to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and the Housing 

Ombudsman (HO) up to 31 March 2022. 

 

2 Recommendation 

           That Cabinet 

 

2.1      Note the contents of the report  

 

 

  

Page 77

Agenda Item 7

http://www.melton.gov.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

2 

 

3 Reason for Recommendation 

3.1 It is a constitutional requirement for Cabinet to have strategic oversight of complaints data 

to support priority 1 – excellent services positively impacting on our communities and 

priority 5 – ensuring the right conditions to support delivery.   

3.2 Receipt of regular complaints data also demonstrates good governance in line with the 

Governance Framework. 

  

4 Background 

4.1 The report provides the number of complaints and enquiries recorded and what decisions 

the Ombudsman has made since the annual report in September 2021. 

 

5 Main Considerations 

5.1 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

5.1.1 Since July 2021, 5 complaints have been determined by the LGSCO in respect of Melton 

Borough Council. 

 

Planning & 
Development  

Housing  
Highways and 

Transport  

4 1 0 

 

5.1.2 Out of the 5 referrals made to the LGSCO in this period, decisions were made on 5: 

i) 0 complaints were not upheld; 

ii) 2 complaint was upheld;  

iii) 3 complaint was closed after initial enquiries; 

iv) 0 where advice was given; 

v) 0 was deemed incomplete or invalid; 

vi) 0 were referred back for local resolution; 

 

5.1.3 These cases have been summarised in the table below:  

Reference / 

Category 

Notification 

Date 

Decision Decision  

Planning  

Ref: 19 014 915 05.02.20 30.07.21 

Upheld  

Mrs X complains about the way the Council dealt 

with flooding issues and the impact of the 

development of sports pitches on a watercourse.  

Page 78



Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

3 

 

Reference / 

Category 

Notification 

Date 

Decision Decision  

The LGSCO found there was fault that warrants a 

remedy.  Please see paragraph 5.3.1 below. 

Link: 19 014 915 - Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman 

Planning  

Ref: 21 003 618 

28.07.21 03.08.21 

Closed after initial enquiries 

Mr X complains about the Council’s handling of 

planning and enforcement matters relating to a 

residential development in his local area.  

The LGSCO decided not to investigate the 

complaint because they were unlikely to find 

evidence of fault by the Council or injustice 

caused to Mr X sufficient to warrant investigation. 

Link: 21 003 618 - Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman 

Planning  

Ref: 21 004 376 

 21.03.22 

Upheld 

1. Mr and Mrs M complained about the Council's 

decision to approve a planning application for 

a development next to their home and that it 

failed to take enforcement action promptly. In 

particular they complained the Council failed 

to:  

•  properly consider the impact of amended 

plans on their home.  

•  publish a report showing how objections 

and consultees responses had been 

considered.  

•  visit the site for three months, enabling a 

breach of planning control to occur.  

•  involve the local councillor or allow the 

application to be considered by the 

planning committee.  

2. Mr and Mrs M say as a result the Council lost 
control of the development, their amenity has 
been adversely affected, and they have 
suffered a great deal of stress and upset. 

 

The LGCSO found fault but this did not cause 

injustice to Mr and Mrs M. The Council has now 

changed the information it publishes about its 

Page 79

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/drainage/19-014-915
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/drainage/19-014-915
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/21-003-618
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/21-003-618


Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

4 

 

Reference / 

Category 

Notification 

Date 

Decision Decision  

planning decisions which was welcomed by the 

LGCSO. 

Link: At the time of writing no link was available  

Planning  

Ref: 21 015 479 

27.01.22 27.01.22 

Closed after initial enquiries 

Mr B, complained that the Council delayed 
deciding his planning application. Mr B says he 
has incurred costs because of the Council’s 
delay. 

The LGSCO decided not to investigate Mr B’s 
complaint that the Council had delayed deciding 
his planning application. This is because it is 
reasonable for Mr B to put in an appeal to the 
planning inspector. 

Link: 21 015 479 - Local Government and Social 

Care Ombudsman 

Housing  

Ref: 21 017 604 

22.03.22 22.03.22 

Closed after initial enquiries 

Mr X said he received a letter from the Council’s 

Chief Executive which threatened to report his 

behaviour to the police or the courts if he 

persisted complaining about or harassing Council 

officers. He says this caused him anxiety and 

distress and the Council should apologise. 

The LGSCO decided they would not investigate 

this complaint about the Council informing Mr X 

that it would take further action against him if he 

persists in harassing its officers because there is 

insufficient evidence of fault which would warrant 

an investigation. 

This is an important decision as the Ombudsman 

has supported the stance the Council took to 

protect its officers by engaging its persistent and 

vexatious customer policy.    

Link: At the time of writing no link was available 

 

 

5.2 Service Improvements: 

5.2.1 Melton Borough Council agreed to make the following improvements to its services 

following the Ombudsman’s decision to uphold one complaint: 

Page 80

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/21-015-479
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/21-015-479


Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

5 

 

 

a) Reference: 19 014 915: 

 

 

 

Recommendations  Service Comments 

The Borough Council agreed to arrange for 
a re-assessment of the sports pitch 
drainage by an independent consultant 
(who has not previously worked on the 
site). They should examine the situation on 
site, determine the current discharge rate 
and decide whether the consultant’s 
recommendations from August 2018 are 
required (or another scheme is 
recommended) to limit the discharge of 
water from the site. The Borough Council 
will be responsible for arranging this work, 
with technical assistance from the LLFA as 
required. The Borough Council agreed to 
meet 50% of the costs of the 
reassessment. The County Council has 
agreed to meet the other 50%. 

 

An independent consultant, was 
commissioned by Melton Borough Council 
in 2021, and together with the technical 
assistance from LLFA, has produced a 
report, dated 10th January 2022, with 
recommendations on an improved design 
for the flooding attenuation and drainage of 
the sports pitches.  An initial budget has 
been identified for the work to be 
undertaken by Melton Borough Council, 
who will be writing to the County Council for 
a share of the costs.  
 

The Borough Council agreed to write to Mrs 
X within four weeks of receiving and 
considering the report from the 
independent assessors. The Council 
should explain what the reassessment 
found and confirm what (if any) action the 
reassessment requires. They should 
confirm when this will be carried out. As the 
landowner, the responsibility for carrying 
out any works recommended by the 
consultants, is the responsibility the 
Borough Council. However, it is open to the 
Borough Council to discuss with the County 
Council’s estates team how it may share 
the cost of any necessary works between 
the Borough and County Councils. 
 

Melton Borough Council responded to Mrs 
X on 25th January 2022 confirming that the 
report had been completed and advised 
that the borough council was considering 
the report content and the next steps, 
including gathering cost estimates for the 
remedial work, and contacting the County 
Council for a share of the costs. 

The Borough Council agreed to pay Mrs X 
£250 to recognise the time trouble and 
frustration and stress caused by the failure 
to properly determine the discharge of 
conditions application and the resulting 
issues when dealing with Mrs X’s 
complaints about the drainage system 
installed. 

Complete. 

Page 81



Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

6 

 

 

The Borough Council agreed to review its 
policy for consultation on discharge of 
conditions applications involving drainage 
and discharge into a watercourse. It should 
confirm to us what specific changes of 
practice have occurred as a result of this 
complaint. 

 

This is under review by the interim AD for 
Planning. 

The County Council agreed to pay Mrs X 
£250. This is to recognise the failure to 
properly address her queries about 
Ordinary Watercourse Consent and the 
delay in making the situation clear and the 
stress and frustration that this caused. It 
also reflects that the part the County 
Council played in problems with the sports 
pitch works. It missed the opportunity, as 
the developer of the sports pitches to verify 
the suitability of the sports pitch work 
before it was carried out. 

 

To be checked with LCC if this is 
completed. 

The County Council’s Flood Risk 
Management Team should provide advice 
and guidance to the Borough Council in 
achieving the re-assessment I refer to in 
paragraph 98 above. 

 

The LLFA were consulted as part of the 
Hexa work and the LLFA’s technical advice 
has been included in the recommendations 
provided by the Hexa report dated 10th 
January 2022. 

 

b) Ref: 21 004 376 

Recommendations  Service Comments 

None  

 

The Council has now changed the 
information it publishes about its planning 
decisions which was welcomed by the 
LGCSO who was concerned that we should 
be compliant with Section 7 of the 
Openness of Local Government Bodies 
Regulations 2014. As a result of this case 
all officer delegated reports are now being 
added to the planning website as a matter 
of course so members of the public can see 
how decisions reached under officer 
delegated authority have been made. 

 

5.3 Public Interest Reports: 

5.3.1 No public interest reports have been reported against Melton Borough Council in the last 8 

years. 

Page 82



Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

7 

 

5.3.2 Public interest reports are published where there has been significant injustice, systemic 

issues, major learning points and non-compliance with recommendations. Issuing public 

reports is one way that we help to ensure councils, and other organisations providing 

public services, remain accountable to people who use those services.   

 

 

5.4 Housing Ombudsman (HO) 

5.4.1 There are 3 complaints currently lodged with the HO but there are no decisions to report at 

this time. 

 

6 Options Considered 

6.1 There are no alternate options as it is a constitutional requirement for Cabinet to have 

strategic oversight of complaints data. 

 

7 Consultation 

7.1 Statutory Officers and the Senior Leadership team have been provided with the 

Ombudsman findings.  

 

8 Next Steps – Implementation and Communication 

8.1 To continue to ensure sufficient corporate oversight of complaints to enable service 

improvements to be made where appropriate.   

 

9 Financial Implications 

9.1 There are no financial implications arising from the report, however it should be noted that 

complaints and the associated remedies can lead to direct financial implications as a 

result of compensation or the cost of rectifying poor service provision.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Director for Corporate Services 

 

  

Page 83



Cabinet Report 

BiaAnnual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter & 
Complaints Stats 2019/20 

8 

 

10 Legal and Governance Implications 

10.1 The Local Government Ombudsman’s powers are defined by the Local Government Act 

1974 as amended by the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Monitoring Officer   

 

11 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

11.1 There are no direct equality and safeguarding issues arising from this report. 

 

12 Community Safety Implications 

12.1 There are no community safety issues arising from this report.   

 

13 Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

13.1  There are no environmental and climate change implications.  

 

14 Risk & Mitigation 

14.1 There are no risks associated with this report. 

 

15 Background Papers 

15.1 None 

 

16 Appendices 

16.1 None  

 

Report Author: Kieran Stockley, Assistant Director for 
Governance and Democracy  

Report Author Contact Details: 01664 504336 / KStockley@melton.gov.uk 

Chief Officer Responsible: Kieran Stockley, Assistant Director for 
Governance and Democracy  

Chief Officer Contact Details: 01664 504336 / KStockley@melton.gov.uk 

 

Page 84


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	4 MATTERS REFERRED FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES
	5 APPROVAL OF MELTON TOWN CENTRE VISION
	Item 5 - Appendix 1 – A Vision for Melton Mowbray Town Centre- Draft for Consultation May 2022

	6 APPROVAL TO SUBMIT A LEVELLING UP FUNDING BID
	Item 6 - Melton Mowbray Stockyard - General Layout

	7 BIANNUAL OMBUDSMAN REPORT

